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Diluted earnings per share rose 16% to $2.36.

Declared our first-ever quarterly dividend in August.

Assets under management grew 13% to $309 billion.

Realized net new business in excess of $22 billion.

More than doubled global bond assets, while increasing total fixed income assets 22% to $214 billion.
Strong performance by our small cap teams spurred a 25% rise in domestic equity assets to $3 billion.
Expanded our alternative investment platform and increased assets 31% to $7 billion.

Increased assets managed for tax-exempt investors worldwide 19% to $112 billion.

Total insurance assets under management surged 34% to $62 billion.

Assets managed for international clients expanded 27% to $58 billion.

Raised $2.6 billion in new closed-end funds and over $1 billion in institutional open-end funds.
Added 14 new assignments in BlackRock Solutions® and grew revenues by 18%.

Augmented our balance sheet advisory capabilities with the January 2004 additon of Peter Fisher,

former under secretary of the U.S. Treasury.

Began 2004 with strong momentum and a robust new business pipeline across products.
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BlackRock faced strong headwinds coming into 2003, including
an anticipated decline in performance fees and the potential for significant out-
flows in liquidity assets. In addition, the passage of Sarbanes-Oxley foreshadowed
increasing operating costs. In spite of these challenges, BlackRock achieved 16%
growth in diluted earnings per share to $2.36, realized 13% growth in assets under
management to $309.4 billion and initated quarterly dividend payments. We
achieved greater diversification in our product and revenue mix, strengthened our
resources and enhanced our organization in ways we believe will better prepare us
to continue to expand globally, operate on a larger scale and capitalize on future

opportunities.

‘We had many successes during the year. Net new business efforts were favorable
on all fronts, reflecting our strong position in established client channels and
our growing global presence. We capitalized on increased outsourcing by taxable
financial institutions, leading to $12.5 billion of inflows from insurance companies
alone. We expanded our clientele worldwide, raising $7.3 billion from international
investors. Our business with pension plan sponsors remained robust, as we added
$10.2 billion from tax-exempt investors worldwide. Finally, investments in our
mutual fund distribution capabilities bore fruit, as we raised $4.0 billion of mutual
fund assets in all channels other than PNC.

Our fixed income business continued to expand, with $28.4 billion of net new
business. Strong growth in global bonds was particularly gradfying, as we had
incubated the product for many years. Addidonal products, such as emerging
market debt, are reaching their 3-year track records and should represent opportu-
nities for further growth and diversification over time. Our portfolio management
team achieved solid results using the same disciplined approach that has become a
hallmark of BlackRock’s style. While several firms had outsized returns reflecting
greater risk-taking, we remain firmly committed to our disciplined investment

process, and new business momentum is as strong as ever.




As global equity markets rallied, smaller cap, high beta stocks performed best. All
of our small cap composites outperformed their benchmarks for the year, and our
large cap core equity fund ranked in the top quartile of its peer group. These results
helped drive over $850 million of new business in these products from
institutions and third party distributors, and momentum continues to build. The
skewed nature of the market recovery was not favorable for our concentrated, large
cap international equity portfolios, which underperformed their benchmarks and
suffered outflows. However, we remain confident in the team’s capabilities and
process, and we continue to believe that they will be rewarded for their conviction

-as markets inevitably normalize.

BlackRock Solutions continues to flourish, as institutions worldwide seek to enhance
their risk management capabilides and realize greater operating efficiencies. In
2003, we increased revenues by 18%. This growth was achieved by completing two
new system implementations and adding 14 assignments overall. New functionality
was introduced throughout the year, including our global research database, and
the new business pipeline remains very active. We continue to build the BlackRock
Solutions effort, which we depend on to support our asset management business and

increasingly look to as a source of revenue diversification.

Our success depends on our ability to retain and attract talented professionals. In
April, we acquired a $150 million hedge fund of funds business, bringing its
founder, Howard Berkowitz, to BlackRock. Howard brings over 30 years of expe-
rience in hedge fund investing. In the short time since he joined, we have doubled
our fund of fund assets and the team has delivered outstanding investment per-
formance. During the year, we also attracted senior professionals in our insurance,
high vield and liquidity efforts, among others. Most recently, we announced that
Peter Fisher, former under secretary of the U.S. Treasury, joined BlackRock.
Peter’s extensive asset/liability management experience in the public sector will
greatly augment our ability to work with clients to address a variety of financial

challenges.

We recognize that as BlackRock grows, we must be willing to reinvent ourselves
and adapt to the evolving needs of our business. During 2003, we took a number
of steps to enhance our organization. These included the creation of a portfolio
risk management group led by Ben Golub, one of our founding partners, to focus
exclusively on our internal risk management needs. We also named Henry Gabbay
Chief Administrative Officer of our investment management business, responsible
for portfolio compliance and new account set-up processes across the firm.
Perhaps most importantly, we created a rotating committee of Managing Directors
to help us identify opportunites for organizational improvement, maintain a strong
culture and encourage a shared vision and responsibility for the future success of

the firm.

The investment management industry is in flux. As the global capital markets con-
tinue to expand and diversify, overtaking the financing role of traditional lenders,
investors are forced to contend with greater volatility and the need for more
sophisticated investment tools. Pension plans and other financial services compa-
nies are facing ongoing asset/liability management challenges and paying greater
attention to risk management and risk budgeting issues. Mutual fund companies
are under increased scrutiny as the regulatory investigations continue, the SEC
proposes expanded reguladons and higher corporate governance standards, and

Congress considers whether legislation is needed in addition to regulation.




These are not easy issues, nor do they lend themselves to quick fixes. We need a
regulatory framework that recognizes that #/l investors are equally reliant on the
integrity of both the capital markets and their investment managers. It is, there-
fore, critical to ensure that @/l investors are treated equitably through, among other
things, sound trade allocation policies, disciplined operational processes, fair
pricing and appropriate disclosure. In short, we fully support reforms that help
ensure that investment managers fulfill their fiduciary obligations to 4/ clients —
individuals and institutions alike, whether invested in mutual funds, alternative

investments or custom portfolios.

Whatever form the final measures take, we can be certain that the cost of doing
business will continue to increase. Having endured three years of adverse equity
markets and facing new cost burdens, many in our industry are re-evaluating
their business models. We believe that BlackRock will have numerous strategic
opportunities in this environment. We will pursue those that represent a strong
cultural and business fit and offer compelling value creation opportunities for our

shareholders.

2003 was a year of milestones for BlackRock. We surpassed $300 billion in assets
under management. We crossed the $200 billion mark in fixed income assets,
solidifying our position as one of the premier bond managers in the world. Our
organization approached 1,000 employees worldwide. We declared our first quar-
terly dividend, and BlackRock celebrated its 15th anniversary. Of course, we are
very proud of these accomplishments. Yet, we remain more focused than ever on
our mission to serve our clients, build our platform and create value for our share-
holders. All of the founding partners continue to be affiliated with BlackRock, and
the next generation is more engaged than ever in helping us manage the firm and

lay the foundation for the future.

Events in the industry over the past year have underscored the importance of
culture, corporate ethics and individual integrity. 1 believe that our success is
directly attributable to our team approach and the efforts and dedication of our
employees. T do not mean to suggest that we are perfect, but I do know that if we
can sustain our “culture of excellence,” we will continue to differentiate BlackRock.
In addition, T am acutely aware of how fortunate we are to have an outstanding
Board of Directors. We rely on them for their guidance on countless matters and
place extraordinarily high value on their candor, independence and knowledge of
our business. Above all, our future rests on our ability to serve our clients. I remain
convinced that the best way to create value for our shareholders is to continually
strive to exceed our clients’ expectations and earn their trust. We dedicate our

efforts every day to those goals.

Sincerely,

Laurence D. Fink
Chatrman and CEQO
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Fixed income remains the cornerstone of BlackRock’s business, representing 69% of
total assets under management at year-end 2003. During the year, fixed income assets grew 22% to $214.4 billion.
Net new business exceeded $28.4 billion, with inflows in all product categories and from all client channels. We
expanded our capabilities across sectors, adding depth to our high yield, corporate credit, internatonal and insur-
ance teams. We also established a portfolio risk management group to enhance our focus on, and use of, risk
management capabilities in our investment management activities. We believe that these initiatives will strengthen
our efforts and enable us to further expand and diversify our fixed income product mix over dme.

Growth in our global bond products, which more than doubled to $12.0 billion, was particularly notable. This suc-
cess was complemented by net new business of $11.9 billion in targeted duraton accounts, including insurance,
defined contribution and mutual fund portfolios, $8.1 billion in core bond products and $2.5 billion in sector-spe-
cific strategies, such as mortgage, municipal, high yield and TIPS mandates. Diversification was also achieved across
client channels, with $9.4 billion of net inflows from international investors, $8.0 billion from U.S. taxable investors,
$7.3 billion from U.S. tax-exempt investors and $3.8 billion from individual and institutional mutual fund investors.

Investment performance is, and always will be, the most important barometer of future business growth. For the
one, three and five years ended December 31, 2003, 75% or more of our fixed income composites outperformed
their benchmarks and 80% or more of our taxable bond funds achieved returns in excess of their Lipper peer group
medians.* These results reflect our intense focus on achieving strong investment performance consistent with our
investment process and risk management discipline.

Numerous industry rends are favorable for BlackRock. Pension plan rebalancing out of bonds into stocks, which
led to more than $19 billion of outflows over the past 3 years, abated and began to reverse as global stock markets
recovered. Defined benefit plan sponsors are funding shortfalls and allocating a portion of contributions to fixed
income. Defined contribution plan sponsors are adding investinent options, increasingly unbundling asset manage-
ment and plan administraton services. Insurance companies continue to actively outsource investnent management,
a trend we expect to extend to other financial institutions as well.

Our ongoing success in fixed income is a direct reflection of our team effort. Professionals across the firm, includ-
ing portfolio management, account management, operations, administration, compliance and BlackRock Solutions,
work together to provide unparalleled service to our clients. Qur collective efforts have enabled us to achieve com-
pound annual growth of 27% over the past 5 years. We believe that we are well positioned to build upon our past
accomplishments and to capitalize on new opportunities to expand and diversify our fixed income business in 2004.

* See performance notes on inside back cover.
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BlackRock is a leader in liquidity management with $74.3 billion under management at
December 31, 2003, representing 24% of our total assets under management. Although assets declined 5% from
2002, average assets were down only 2% and BlackRock maintained its position as the eighth largest institutional
money market fund manager in the naton. During the year, we added resources in liquidity sales and marketing and
enhanced cross-selling efforts, which we believe will enable us to expand market share in 2004.

Net outflows of $6.6 billion in institutional money market funds pardally reversed the $14.3 billion of inflows that
followed the Federal Reserve’s rate cut in November 2002. Additional outflows of $1.4 billion in retail money mar-
ket funds reflected asset reallocations in the face of historically low yields. In contrast to these adverse flows,
improved cross-selling efforts helped generate $327 million of net new business in separate accounts, and favorable
stock market conditions led to $3.5 billion of net inflows in securides lending portfolios.

Investment performance remained competitve, with all liquidity funds ranked in the top two Lipper quartiles, and
90% or more of all institutional funds ranked in the top Lipper quartile, for the one, three and five years ended
December 31, 2003.* Importantly, these results were achieved without compromising our conservative investment
philosophy, which emphasizes credit quality and liquidity over yield. Our investment process brings together high-
ly experienced professionals, sophisticated risk analytics customized for the needs of the liquidity business and broad
global credit research capabilites.

Consistently competitive performance is not the only factor attracting our impressive roster of clients, including cor-
porate and municipal treasurers, banks and bank trust departments, broker dealers and insurance companies. As part
of our ongoing effort to better serve our clients, we provide a variety of proprietary tools to make investing in
BlackRock Liquidity Funds™ (formerly, BlackRock Provident Institutional Funds) easy and efficient. In addition to
our client call center, which handled approximately half of all trade orders in 2003, we offer Mutual ADVANTAGE"™,
which gives clients real-time access to their accounts via the Internet. We also have developed interfaces that pro-
vide access to our funds through several institutional investment portals, and CashManager™, a PC-based cash sweep
program for banks that offer cash management services.

BlackRock’s liquidity flows in 2003 reflected the prevailing rate environment. Outflows materialized, as expected,
when yields on money market funds and direct investments came back into line during the first quarter. Throughout
the year, however, the Federal Reserve maintained its accommodative stance while waiting for clear evidence of an
overheating economy or inflationary pressures. Any shift in the Fed’s policy in 2004 will likely cause significant out-
flows in institutional money market funds in favor of direct investments. Accordingly, we remain cautious about the
volatility of liquidity flows in the coming year.

* See performance notes on inside back cover:
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Global equity markets rallied sharply in 2003 following three years of negative returns. ’
Performance within the markets was mixed, however, with smaller capitalization, higher risk stocks performing
best worldwide. The skewed nature of the market recovery impacted our results for the year, as small cap portfolios
outperformed large cap products. For the year, BlackRock’s equity assets increased $257 million to $13.7 billion at
year-end. Most importantly, we ended the year with strong momentum in our domestic equity effort and signs of
improvement in our international equity products.

Domestic equity assets grew $1.0 billion to $5.0 billion at December 31, 2003. During the year, net new business
raised from institutional investors and through external distributors totaled $712 million, which was overwhelmed
by $748 million of outflows from PNC-related clients following the private bank’s shift to open architecture.
Importantly, the positive new business efforts spanned our client base, including institudonal separate account and
fund investors as well as the successful offering of our first equity closed-end fund.

Significantly, strong investment results are supporting new business momentum. All of our domestic small cap equity
composites outperformed their benchmarks, and all of the corresponding funds ranked in the top half of their Lipper
peer groups in 2003.* In addition, our quantitative equity team, which joined the firm in February 2003, quickly
implemented their models and rigorous investment process in the management of our domestic large cap portfolios.
Their efforts enabled our large cap core equity fund, BlackRock Funds Select Equity Portfolio, to achieve top quar-
tile performance within its Lipper peer group for the year.*

Our global opportunities team achieved strong performance for the year in international small cap products, attract-
ing net inflows from a variety of institutonal investors worldwide. The market environment was exceptionally
difficult, however, for our large cap international equity portfolios. These products performed poorly on a relative
basis and, as a result, redemptions outpaced market gains. International equity assets ended the year down $760 mil-
lion to $8.7 billion. We remain convinced, however, that as markets return to more normal conditions, these large
cap portfolios will again be rewarded for consistency of the style and process that have enabled our Edinburgh-based
team to produce an exceptional long-term track record.

Going into 2004, performance in our large cap international equity products appears to have stabilized and we have
strong momentum in our domestc equity business, including a robust pipeline of new business opportunities.
Further, as each of the newer teams gain more seasoning on BlackRock’s platform and demonstrates their ability to
deliver strong performance, we will be able to more effectively roll out their products to a larger universe of prospec-
tive investors and pursue greater cross-selling opportunities.

* See nerformance notes on inside back cover.
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During 2003, we continued to expand our alternative investment platform, adding
resources and diversifying our product mix. At year-end, alternative investments included hedge funds, fund of
funds, high yield and real estate debt products. During the year, assets increased 31% to $6.9 billion. We continue
to believe that managing alternative investments alongside long-only portfolios is beneficial and, accordingly, we will
pursue opportunides to expand these offerings over time.

Hedge fund assets increased 21% to $1.9 billion at year-end. Our global fixed income hedge fund realized
positive returns in 2003, and is expected to overtake its high water mark during 2004. In early 2003, we introduced
a municipal hedge fund that seeks to achieve attractive after-tax returns. During the year, we raised $142 million
principally from high net worth investors. We continue to experience strong investor demand for this strategy, and
we are optimistic that we will achieve further growth in this product in 2004.

In April 2003, BlackRock acquired HPB Management, founded by hedge fund veteran, Howard Berkowitz, who
joined BlackRock to lead our hedge fund of funds business. Since the acquisition, we have doubled assets under man-
agement to over $300 million. Investment strategy for these products leverages the firm’s capital markets expertise,
risk management platform and extensive network of contacts in the financial community to source managers,
conduct research, construct portfolios and manage risk. Performance was exceptonal in 2003 and new business
momentum continues to build.

Our high yield alternative investments consist of six collateralized debt obligatdons (CDOs) totaling $2.9 billion,
including $342 million raised in 2003. During the year, we strengthened our resources in this area, adding global
credit and high yield investment professionals to the fixed income team to further support our management of these
products, other high yield accounts and holdings in our broader fixed income portfolios. Additional CDOs will be
offered from time to time to target opportunities in the high yield debt and bank loan markets.

Assets managed in real estate debt products increased $696 million to $1.8 billion at December 31, 2003. The growth
in these assets resulted principally from additional investments in our mezzanine portfolios and the restructuring of
our real estate investment trust. To enhance investment strategy implementation and better leverage our capital
markets and risk management expertise, we have integrated our real estate and fixed income portfolio management
teams and are expanding their resources. In 2004, we expect to offer a second real estate mezzanine fund and are
considering other business development opportunities.

)
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BlackRock Solutions continues to expand as institutional investors heighten their focus
on investment and operational risk management. In 2003, we added 14 new assignments and increased revenues by
18% to $58.7 million. New business included 2 system outsourcing contracts and 12 risk management assignments.
Importantly, BlackRock Solutions’ revenue mix improved substantally in 2003, as a number of short-term assign-
ments that we completed in 2002 were replaced by longer-term relationships.

Investment system outsourcing continues to be the most important driver of BlackRock Solutions’ growth. Our
investment system, Aladdin®, is a fully integrated portfolio management systemn that facilitates front, middle and back
office efficiency. Developed to support BlackRock’s asset management business, Aladdin is now used by leading insti-
tutions, including pension plans, insurance companies, corporations and foundations, to support their direct invest-
ment actvities. The depth of our analytical capabilities, breadth of security coverage, range of processing tools and
automated compliance controls differentiate our system. Clients choose BlackRock Solutions for these features,
as well as the significant efficiencies gained from the work process reengineering associated with an Aladdin
implementation. We completed two additional system implementations in 2003 and have another in progress.

Our risk ranagement services include risk reporting, advice and hedge execution. These services leverage the ana-
lytical capabilities embedded in Aladdin, as well as industry and capital markets expertise throughout the firm. We
have a particularly strong presence among mortgage banks, reflecting our unique ability to help these clients address
the complex risks associated with origination and servicing. We also provide risk management services to a growing
number of commercial banks, pension plans and insurance companies, and are witnessing increased interest from
institutions worldwide who want to enhance their ability to monitor and manage their investment risks. Newer
offerings include cur Web-based pre-trade analytics tool, AnSer®, and investment accounting services which, when

combined with investment and risk management, comprise a comprehensive solution for insurance companies.

In January 2004, we significantly expanded our balance sheet advisory capabilities with the additon of former under
secretary of the U.S. Treasury Peter Fisher. Mr. Fisher will lead a new Advisory Services Group, which will lever-
age his broad public sector asset/liability management expertise with our capital markets and BlackRock Solutions
capabilides to help clients address a variety of financial challenges.

BlackRock contnues to rely on BlackRock Solutions’ systems and analytical capabilides to support our asset man-
agement business. As the regulatory environment evolves, institutions worldwide are increasingly focused on sound
risk management practices and the ability to satisfy the demand for greater transparency. We have benefited from
these developments and we expect interest in BlackRock Solutions’ products and related services to continue to grow

in the coming years.
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Insurance 19%

BlackRock’s marketing and client service efforts continue to differentate the firm. In 2003,
net new business of $22.5 billion fueled a 13% increase in assets under management to $309.4 billion. Over the past five
years, net new business has accounted for 80% of the total increase in assets managed. At year-end, we managed $222.6
billion, or 72% of total assets under management, on behalf of 455 separate account clients in 34 countries. Insdtutions
and individuals invested in our fund families - BlackRock Funds, BlackRock closed-end funds, BlackRock Liquidity Funds

and BlackRock Global Series — account for the remaining $86.8 billion, or 28%, of assets under management.

Our culture of teamwork and excellence focuses all employees on serving our clients. We pride ourselves on the quality and
longevity of our relatonships, and we are extraordinarily gratified to have celebrated our tenth anniversary with 27 clients.
Sixty one clients have entrusted us with assets in excess of $1 billion, and more than 225 clients have multiple investment
and/or risk management assignments with BlackRock. We expect cross-selling to expand further as we continue to realize
benefits from our 2002 consolidation of all marketing and client service on a unified platform.

Assets managed for U.S. clients increased 11% year-over-year to $250.9 billion at December 31, 2003. Net new business
in long-dated portfolios totaled $19.0 billion, which was pardally offset by a $3.9 billion decline in liquidity products.
Institutional investors choose BlackRock for a wide variety of separate accounts and, increasingly, for the liquidity and
diversification available in our insdtutional funds offerings. Private clients utilize our open-end and closed-end funds as
well as, when applicable, our wealth management services and alternative investment offerings. Over the past five years,
our domestic business has grown at a 15% compound annual rate, and we believe we will be able to continue to expand

market share across a broad universe of domestic investors.

Our global presence continues to expand; as evidenced by the 27% year-over-year increase in assets managed for clients
domiciled outside the United States. At December 31, 2003, assets managed for international investors totaled $358.5 bil-
lion, representing 19% of BlackRock’s assets under management. Professionals based in New York, Tokyo, Hong Kong
and Edinburgh are responsible for international business development and client service. Their efforts, together with those
of our strategic partners in Japan and Australia, helped us realize net new business of $7.3 billion during 2003 from 67 inter-
national investors in 26 countries. These clients, which include pension plans, insurance companies, banks, central banks
and others, choose BlackRock for a wide variety of global and other fixed income portfolios, offshore liquidity funds, equity
accounts and alternative invesunents. Over the past five years, our international business has grown at a 52% compound

annual rate, and we believe we will continue to expand as we add resources and enhance our name recognition throughout
the world.

Tax-exempt clients represent our largest client segment worldwide with $112.3 billion under management at year-end

2003, or 36% of BlackRock’s total assets under management. Assets managed for tax-exempt investors, including pension
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plans, foundations, endowments and other non-profit organizations, grew 19% during the year. BlackRock has benefited
from a number of trends among tax-exempt institutions. Defined benefit plan sponsors continue to consolidate their fixed
income investments with fewer managers. Plan contributions are being allocated in part to fixed income and the three-
year long rebalancing trend out of bonds into stocks has abated and is beginning to reverse. Defined contribution plans
represent a growing opportunity, as sponsors increasingly unbundle asset management and plan administration and
participants seek greater investment choice. Finally, as our product line expands, we are better able to serve foundations,

endowments and others that focus heavily on equity and alternative investments.

At December 31, 2003, BlackRock managed $95.3 billion of separate account assets for taxable clients, including insurance
companies, corporations, banks and high net worth individuals. Assets managed for insurance companies represented 62%
of this total, with $12.5 billion of net new business in 2003 driving a 34% increase in insurance assets to $59.2 hillion, or
19% of BlackRock’s total assets under management. Insurance companies often turn to BlackRock for a range of services
that combine investment management with BlackRock Solutions’ risk management and investument accounting capabilities.
Services are tailored to take into consideration a wide variety of asset/liability management issues, including GAAP, tax,
regulatory and rating agency considerations. Our clientele includes reinsurance companies and life, health and property
and casualty insurers, who are increasingly outsourcing all or a portion of their investment management. We expect this
trend to continue and to extend to other financial institutions as well, and we believe BlackRock is well positioned to

capitalize on these opportunites.

Institutional money market fund assets, which are managed on behalf of both taxable and tax-exempt investors, declined
$6.6 billion, or 11%, to $53.7 billion at year-end 2003. These outflows, which were anticipated industry-wide following
the Federal Reserve’s discount rate cut in November 2002, were mitigated somewhat by net inflows of $327 million in
separate accounts and $3.5 billion in security lending portfolios. BlackRock retained its position as the eighth largest
institutional money market fund manager in the nation, and our expanded liquidity team is focused on building market

share over time.

Private clients are served through 40 open-end funds with assets of $18.4 billion and 49 closed-end funds with assets of
$14.0 billion at year-end. Net new business totaled $2.0 billion during 2003, with $4.0 billion raised from institutions and
through third party intermediaries offset in part by $2.0 billion of net outflows from PNC-related clients. During 2003,
we raised 6 new closed-end funds totaling $2.6 billion in assets, including our first equity closed-end fund. We have made
substantal investments in our fund sales effort, which includes 41 wholesalers, and have increased resources to support
direct sales of our institutional funds products. These investments began to bear fruit in 2003 and we expect to be able to

build momentum in fund sales in the coming years.
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The selected financial data presented below has been devived in part
from, and should be read in conjunction with, the consolidated
financial statements of BlackRock, Inc. and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations” included elsewbere in this Annual Report. The
data rveflects certain veclassifications to conform with the current
year’s presentation.

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Income statement data
Revenue
Investment advisory and administration fees:
Mutual funds $206,136 $212,214 $217,361 $229,259 $214,728
Separate accounts 322,556 306,951 278,126 223,521 154,046
BlackRock Asset Investors (BAT)® — — — — (7,072)
Total advisory and administraton fees 528,692 519,165 495,487 452,780 361,702
Other income 69,520 57,812 37,657 24,092 19,279
Total revenue 598,212 576,977 533,144 476,872 380,981
Expense
Employee compensation and benefits 228,905 230,634 215,118 189,684 138,025
BAI incentive compensation( —_ — — — (5,387)
Fund administration and servicing costs 32,773 41,779 60,829 75,686 78,666
General and administration 107,333 88,601 76,567 58,311 48,570
Amortizadon of intangible assets® 925 824 10,454 10,153 9,653
Closed-end fund offering costs - — — — 511
Toral expense 369,936 361,838 362,968 333,834 270,038
Operating income 228,276 215,139 170,176 143,038 110,943
Non-operating income (expense)
Investment income 23,346 9,492 11,576 7,734 3,445
Interest expense (720) (683) (761) (855) (10,938)
22,626 8,809 10,815 6,879 (7,493)
Income before income taxes and minority interest 250,902 223,948 180,991 149,917 103,450
Income taxes 95,247 90,699 73,557 62,556 44,033
Income before minority interest 155,655 133,249 107,434 87,361 59,417
Minority interest 253 — — — —
Net income $155,402 $133,249 $107,434 $87,361 $59,417
Per share data (unaudited)
Basic earnings $2.40 $2.06 $1.67 $1.37 $1.04
Diluted earnings 2.36 2.04 1.65 1.35 1.04
Book value® 11.13 9.78 7.54 5.75 4.39
Market value® 53.11 39.90 41.70 42.00 17.19
Cash dividends declared per common share 0.40 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Balance sheet data
Cash and cash equivalents $315,941 $255,234 $186,451 $192,590 $157,129
Investments 234,923 210,559 139,126 13,316 2,255
Intangible assets, net 192,079 182,827 181,688 192,142 194,257
Other assets 224,280 215,568 177,213 138,955 93,941
Total assets 967,223 864,188 684,478 537,003 447,582
Long-term debt —_ — — — 28,200
Total liabilities 252,676 229,534 198,361 168,762 167,056
Stockholders’ equity 713,308 634,654 486,117 368,241 280,526
Other financial data (unaudited)
Assets under management (Dollar amounts in millions)
Separate accounts:
Fixed income $190,432 $156,574 $119,488 $103,561 $73,120
Liquidity 5,855 5,491 6,831 6,495 7,902
Securities lending 9,925 6,433 10,781 11,501 13,032
Equity 9,443 9,736 9,577 8,716 3,080
Alternative investment products 6,934 5,279 5,309 3,470 2,086
Subtotal 222,589 183,513 151,986 133,743 99,220
Mutual funds:
Fixed income 23,924 19,012 15,754 13,317 13,318
Liquidity 58,565 66,588 62,141 43,190 36,587
Equity 4,278 3,728 8,703 13,519 15,392
Subtotal 86,767 89,328 86,598 70,026 65,297
Total $309,356 $272,841 $238,584 $203,769 $164,517

@ Pursyant to a plan of liguidation, the assets of BAI were sold in 1999 and its business operations terminated.
@ Amortization of intangible assets decreased due to the adoption of SFAS No. 142 in 2002.

@) As of Decernber 31 of the respective year ended.
N/A - Not applicable
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Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

BlackRock, Inc., a Delaware corporation (together, with its
subsidiaries, “BlackRock” or the “Company™), is one of the
largest publicly traded investment management firms in the
United States with approximately $309.4 billion of assets
under management at December 31, 2003. BlackRock man-
ages assets on behalf of institutional and individual investors
worldwide through a variety of equity, fixed income, liquid-
ity and alternative investment separate accounts and mutual
funds, including BlackRock Funds and BlackRock Liguidity
Funds. In addition, BlackRock provides risk management,
investment analytics and enterprise investment system services
and products to institutional investors under the BlackRock

Solutions name. BlackRock is a majority-owned indirect sub-
sidiary of The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. (PNC),
one of the largest diversified financial services organizations
providing regional community banking; wholesale banking,
including corporate banking; real estate finance and asset-
based lending; wealth management; asset management and
global fund services. As of December 31, 2003, PNC indi-
rectly owned approximately 70% of BlackRock.

The following table summarizes BlackRock’s operating per-
formance for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001:

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year ended

Variance vs.

December 31,

2003 vs. 2002 2002 vs. 2001

Jlar in

e o sy sated) 2003 2002 2001 Amount %  Amount %
Total revenue $598,212 $576,977 $533,144 $21,235 4% $43,833 8%
Total expense $369,936 $361,838 $362,968 $8,098 2% ($1,130) 0%
Operating income $228,276 $215,139 $170,176 $13,137 6% $44,963 26%
Net income $155,402 $133,249 $107,434 $22,153 17% $25,815 24%
Diluted earnings per share $2.36 $2.04 $1.65 $0.32 16% $0.39 24%
Average diluted shares

outstanding 65,860,368 | 65,307,548 64,926,199 552,820 1% 381,349 1%
Operating margin® 40.4% 40.2% 36.0%
Assets under management

(Dollar amounts in millions) $309,356 $272,841 $238,584 $36,515 13% $34,257 14%

@ Operating income divided by total vevenue less fund administration and servicing costs. Computations for all periods presented derived from the Company's consolidated

financial statements are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Operating income, as reported $228,276 $215,139 $170,176
Revenue, as reported 598,212 576,977 533,144
Less: fund administration and servicing costs (32,773) (41,779) (60,829)
Revenue used for asset management operating margin measurement 565,439 535,198 472,315
Adjusted operating margin 38.2% 37.3% 31.9%
Operating margin, as reported 40.4% 40.2% 36.0%

We believe that operating margin, as reported, is an effective indicator of management’s ability 1o effectively employ the Company's resources. Fund administration and
servicing costs have been excluded from operating margin because these costs are a contractual, asset-based expense, which can fluctuate based on the discretion of a third party.

GENERAL

BlackRock derives a substantial portion of its revenue from
investment advisory and administration fees, which are rec-
ognized as the services are performed. Such fees are primar-
ily based on predetermined percentages of the market value
of assets under management and are affected by changes
in assets under management, including market appreciation
or depreciation and net subscriptions or redemptions. Net
subscriptions or redemptions represent the sum of new
client assets, additional fundings from existing clients, with-
drawals of assets from and termination of client accounts
and purchases and redemptions of mutual fund shares.

Market appreciation or depreciation includes current income
earned on and changes in the fair value of securities held in
client accounts.

Investment advisory agréements for certain separate accounts
and BlackRock’s alternative investment products provide for
performance fees in addition to fees based on assets under
management. Performance fees generally are earned when
investment performance exceeds a contractual threshold and,
accordingly, may increase the volatlity of BlackRock’s revenue
and earnings.




BlackRock provides a variety of risk management, invest-
ment analytics and investment system services to insurance
companies, finance companies, pension funds, asset man-
agers, foundations, consultants, mutual fund sponsors, REITS,
commercial and mortgage banks, savings institations and
government agencies. These services are provided under the
brand name BlackRock Solutions and include a wide array of risk
management services and enterprise investment system out-
sourcing to clients. Fees earned for BlackRock Solutions services
are based either on predetermined percentages of the market
value of assets subject to the services or on fixed monthly or
quarterly payments. The fees earned on risk management
advisory and investment system assignments are recorded as
other income.

Operating expense consists of employee compensation and
benefits, fund administration and servicing costs, general and
administration expense and amortization of intangible assets.
Employee compensation and benefits expense reflects salaries,
deferred and incentive compensation and related benefit costs.

Fund administration and servicing costs reflect payments
made to PNC affiliated entities and third parties, primarily
associated with the administratdon and servicing of client
investments in the BlackRock Funds and BlackRock Closed-end
Funds. Intangible assets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were
approximately $192.1 million and approximately $182.8 mil-
lion, respectively, with amortization expense of approximately
$0.9 million, $0.8 million and $10.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Amortization of intangible assets decreased due to the adop-
tion of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS No,
142) in 2002. Intangible assets primarily reflece PNC’s acqui-
sition of BlackRock Financial Management, L.P. (BFM) on
February 28, 1995 and a management contract acquired in
connection with the agreement and plan of merger of CORE
Cap, Inc. with Anthracite Capital, Inc. (Anthracite), a
BlackRock managed REIT, on May 15, 2000.

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Assets under management (AUM) increased $36.5 billion,
or 13%, to $309.4 billion at December 31, 2003, compared
with $272.8 billion at December 31, 2002. The growth in
assets under management was attributable to an increase of
$39.1 billion, or 21%, in separate accounts, partially offset by
a decrease of $2.6 billion, or 3%, in mutual fund assets.

The increase in separate accounts at December 31, 2003, as
compared with December 31, 2002, was the result of net
subscriptions of $26.5 billion and market appreciation of
$12.5 billion. Net subscriptions in fixed income separate
accounts, liquidity-securities lending separate accounts and
alternative investment products were $24.1 billion, $3.5 bil-
lion and $1.5 billion, respectively, while equity separate
accounts experienced net redemptions of $2.9 billion. The rise
in fixed income separate accounts was primarily attributable
to strong relative invesunent performance resulting in higher
levels of funding from existing clients as well as increased
sales to new clients. Fixed income net subscriptions of $24.1
billion is net of approximately $3.9 billion of market rebal-
ancing outflows. Liquidity-securities lending separate accounts
have increased due to an improvement in equity markets dur-
ing 2003 resulting in higher levels of cash collateral managed
for PFPC Worldwide, Inc., a PNC subsidiary. The $1.5
billion increase in alternative investment products stems
from $0.8 billion of net new business in real estate products,
the $0.3 billion launch of Magnetite V CLO, Limited on
September 30, 2003 and $0.3 billion related to the acquisition

of a hedge fund of funds manager and the subsequent addi-
tion of new fund of fund clients during 2003. The decline in
equity separate accounts consisted of net redemptions total-
ing $3.2 billion in international equity accounts due to poor
relative investment performance, partially offset by a $0.2 of
net subscriptions in domestic equity assets during 2003.
Market appreciation of $12.5 billion in separate accounts was
primarily comprised of appreciation in fixed income assets of
$9.7 billion due to current income and changes in interest
rates and market appreciation in equity assets of $2.6 billion.

The $2.6 billion year over year decrease in mutual fund assets
reflected net redemptions of $4.1 billion, which was pardally
offset by $0.6 billion of market appreciation in the closed-end
funds driven by declining interest rates and $0.8 billion
of market appreciation in the BlackRock Funds largely associ-
ated with the rise in the equity markets. Net redemptions
of $4.1 billion primarily consisted of $6.7 billion in BlackRock
Liquidity Fund assets, which was partially offset by $2.5 billion
in net new business in the closed-end funds. The decrease in
BiackRock Liguidity Fund assets was the result of lower absolute
returns coupled with stable short term interest rates during
the first quarter of 2003, as compared to 2002, which resulted
in netredemption of $11.1 billion during the first quarter. Net
redemptions in the BlackRock Liguidity Funds during the three
months ended March 31, 2003 were partially offset by $4.4
billion in net subscriptions during the remainder of the year.
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(unaudited) December 31, Variance %

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2003 vs. 2002 2002 vs. 2001
All Accounts
Fixed income $214,356 $175,586 $135,242 22.1% 29.8%
Liquidity 74,345 78,512 79,753 (5.3) (1.6)
Equity 13,721 13,464 18,280 1.9 (26.3)
Alternative investment products 6,934 5,279 5,309 31.3 (0.6)
Total $309,356 $272,841 $238,584 13.4% 14.4%
Separate Accounts
Fixed income $190,432 $156,574 $119,488 21.6% 31.0%
Liquidity 5,855 5,491 6,831 6.6 (19.6)
Liquidity-Securities lending 9,925 6,433 10,781 54.3 (40.3)
Equity 9,443 9,736 9,577 (3.0) 1.7
Alternative investment products 6,934 5,279 5,309 313 0.6)
Subtotal 222,589 $183,513 151,986 21.3 20.7
Mutual Funds
Fixed income 23,924 19,012 15,754 25.8 20.7
Liquidity 58,565 66,588 62,141 (12.0) 7.2
Equity 4,278 3,728 8,703 14.8 (57.2)
Subtotal 86,767 89,328 86,598 2.9 3.2
Total $309,356 $272,841 $238,584 13.4% 14.4%

COMPONENT CHANGES IN ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

The following tables present the component changes in  For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
BlackRock’s assets under management for the years ended  net subscriptions were $22.5 billion, $25.4 billion and
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The data $31.3 billion, respectively, and accounted for 62%, 74%
reflects certain reclassifications to conform with the current  and 90%, respectively, of the total increase in assets under

year’s presentation. management.

Year ended December 31,
(Dollar amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
All Accounts
Beginning assets under management $272,841 $238,584 $203,769
Net subscriptions 22,468 25,378 31,318
Market appreciation 14,047 8,879 3,497
Ending assets under management $309,356 $272,841 $238,584
% of Change in AUM from net subscriptions 61.5% 74.1% 90.0%
Separate Accounts
Beginning assets under management $183,513 $151,986 $133,743
Net subscriptions 26,540 21,322 12,030
Market appreciation 12,536 10,205 6,213
Ending assets under management 222,589 183,513 151,986
Mutual Funds
Beginning assets under management 89,328 86,598 70,026
Net subscriptions (redemptions) 4,072) 4,056 19,288
Market appreciation (depreciation) 1,511 (1,326) (2,716)
Ending assets under management 86,767 89,328 86,598
Total $309,356 $272,841 $238,584
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Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Separate Accounts
Fixed income
Beginning assets under management $156,574 $119,488 $103,561
Net subscriptions 24,113 24,443 8,071
Market appreciation 9,745 12,643 7,856
Ending assets under management 190,432 156,574 119,488
Liquidity
Beginning assets under management 5,491 6,831 6,495
Net subscriptions (redemptions) 327 (1,365) 239
Market appreciation 37 25 97
Ending assets under management 5,855 5,491 6,831
Liquidity-Securities lending
Beginning assets under management 6,433 10,781 11,501
Net subscriptions (redemptions) 3,492 (4,348) (720)
Ending assets under management 9,925 6,433 10,781
Equity
Beginning assets under management 9,736 9,577 8,716
Net subscriptions (redemptions) (2,920) 2,269 2,752
Market appreciation (depreciation) 2,627 (2,110 (1,891)
Ending assets under management 9,443 9,736 9,577
Alternative investment products
Beginning assets under management 5,279 5,309 3,470
Net subscriptions 1,528 323 1,688
Market appreciation (depreciation) 127 (353) 151
Ending assets under management 6,934 5,279 5,309
Total Separate Accounts
Beginning assets under management 183,513 151,986 133,743
Net subscriptions 26,540 21,322 12,030
Market appreciation 12,536 10,205 6,213
Ending assets under management $222,589 $183,513 $151,986
Year ended December 31,
(Dollar amounts in miflions) 2003 2002 2001
Mutual Funds
Fixed Income
Beginning assets under management $19,012 $15,754 $13,317
Net subscriptions 4,295 2,836 2,308
Market appreciation 617 422 129
Ending assets under management 23,924 19,012 15,754
Liquidity
Beginning assets under management 66,588 62,141 43,190
Net subscriptions (redemptions) (8,035) 4,443 18,951
Market appreciation 12 4 —
Ending assets under management 58,565 66,588 62,141
Equity
Beginning assets under management 3,728 8,703 13,519
Net redemptions (332) (3,223 (1,971)
Market appreciation (depreciation) 882 (1,752) (2,845)
Ending assets under management 4,278 3,728 8,703
Total Mutual Funds
Beginning assets under management 89,328 86,598 70,026
Net subscriptions (redemptions) (4,072) 4,056 19,288
Market appreciation {(depreciation) 1,511 (1,326) 2,716)
Ending assets under management $86,767 $89,328 $86,598
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Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Mutual Funds

BlackRock Funds

Beginning assets under management $18,115 $24,195 $26,359

Net subscriptions (redemptions) (523) 4,533) 616

Market appreciation (depreciation) 762 (1,547) (2,780)
Ending assets under management 18,354 18,115 24,195

BlackRock Global Series

Beginning assets under management 211 149 75

Net subscriptions 521 48 90

Market appreciation (depreciation) 166 14 (16)
Ending assets under management 838 211 149

BlackRock Liquidity Funds

Beginning assets under management 59,576 53,167 36,338

Net subscriptions (redemptions) (6,706) 6,409 16,829

Ending assets under management 52,870 59,576 53,167

Closed End

Beginning assets under management 10,771 8,512 6,764

Net subscriptions 2,547 2,052 1,668

Market appreciation 643 207 80

Ending assets under management 13,961 10,771 8,512

Short Term Investment Funds (STIF)

Beginning assets under management 655 575 490

Net subscriptions 89 80 85

Ending assets under management 744 655 575

Total Mutual Funds

Beginning assets under management 89,328 86,598 70,026

Net subscriptions (redemptions) (4,072) 4,056 19,288

Market appreciation (depreciation) 1,511 (1,326) (2,716)
Ending assets under management $86,767 $89,328 $86,598

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003
AS COMPARED WITH THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

Revenue

Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003
increased $21.2 million, or 4%, to $598.2 million, compared
with $577.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Investment advisory and administration fees increased $9.5
million, or 2%, to $528.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, compared with $519.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2002. The growth in investment
advisory and administration fees was primarily due toa 21%
increase in separate account assets under management to

$222.6 billion at December 31, 2003 pardally offset by a
decrease in separate accounts performance fees and a
decrease in mutual fund assets under management of 3%.
Other income of $69.5 million increased $11.7 million, or
20%, for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared with
$57.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
increase was primarily the result of increased sales in
BlackRock Solutions products and services.




Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 Amount %
Investment advisory and administration fees:

Mutual funds $206,136 $212,214 ($6,078) (2.9%)

Separate accounts 322,556 306,951 15,605 5.1
Total investment advisory and

administration fees 528,692 519,165 9,527 1.8
Other income 69,520 57,812 11,708 20.3
Total revenue $598,212 $576,977 $21,235 3.7%

Mutual fund advisory and administradon fees decreased
$6.1 million, or 3%, to $206.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, compared with $212.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2002. The decrease in mutual
fund revenue was primarily due to declines in BlackRock
Fund and BlackRock Liguidity Fund fees of $14.3 million and
$3.1 million, respectively, partially offset by an increase in
closed-end fund fees of $11.1 million. The decrease in
BlackRock Fund revenue includes an $18.4 million reduction
due to redemptions of PNC-related assets of approximately
$2.0 billion (average PNC-related assets in the BlackRock
Funds declined approximately $3.4 billion year-over-year)
which more than offset an increase in revenues attributable to
$1.4 billion in third party net sales. The decrease in BlackRock
Ligquidity Fund revenue reflected a $1.3 billion decrease
in average assets for the year ended December 31, 2003,
compared with the year ended December 31, 2002, and $1.8
million related to a rebate of Securities and Exchange Com-
mission registration fees. Closed-end fund revenue increased
$11.1 million during 2003 due to an increase in assets of
$3.2 billion primarily due to BlackRock’s new fund offer-
ings, which generated $2.5 billion in AUM during 2003.

Separate account advisory fees increased $15.6 million, or
5%, to $322.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2003, compared with $307.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002. Excluding performance fees, advisory
fees on separate accounts increased $47.4 million, or 18%,
to $313.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
compared with $266.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2002. The growth in separate account revenue excluding
performance fees, was attributable to solid relative invest-
ment returns and improving equity markets resulting in a
$39.1 billion, or 21%, increase in separate account assets.
Performance fees of $8.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003 decreased $31.8 million, or 78%, com-
pared with $40.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2002 primarily due to a decrease in performance fees earned
on the Company’ fixed income hedge fund. BlackRock will
not earn additional performance fees on the fund until such
dme as positive investment performance exceeds the high
water mark, which, assuming historical returns, could be
expected to occur in the second quarter of 2004.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 Amount %
Mutual funds revenue
BlackRock Funds $69,361 $83,647 ($14,286) (17.1%)
Closed-end Funds 52,685 41,591 11,094 26.7
BlackRock Liquidity Funds 83,035 86,115 (3,080) 3.6)
STIF 1,055 861 194 22.5
Total mutual funds revenue 206,136 212,214 (6,078) 2.9
Separate accounts revenue
Separate accounts base fees 313,681 266,252 47,429 17.8
Separate accounts performance fees 8,875 40,699 (31,824) (78.2)
Total separate accounts revenue 322,556 306,951 15,605 5.1
Total investment advisory and

administration fees 528,692 519,165 9,527 1.8
Other income 69,520 57,812 11,708 20.3
Total revenue $598,212 $576,977 $21,235 3.7%
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Expense

Total expense increased $8.1 million to $369.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003, compared with $361.8
for the year ended December 31, 2002. The change primar-
ily reflects increases in general and administration expense
and fund administration and servicing costs paid to third

parties of $18.7 million and $4.3 million, respectively, par-
tially offset by decreases in affiliated fund administration and
servicing costs and employee compensation and benefits of
$13.4 million and $6.4 million, excluding the impact of
increased appreciation of Rabbi trust assets, respectively.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 Amount %
Employee compensation and benefits $228,905 $230,634 $1,729) 0.7%)
Fund administration and servicing costs

Affiliates 26,949 40,304 (13,355) (33.)

Other 5,824 1,475 4,349 294.8
General and administration 107,333 88,601 18,732 21.1
Amortization of intangible assets 925 824 101 12.3

Total expense $369,936 $361,838 $8,008 22%

The increase in general and administration expense primar-
ily reflects increased marketing and promotional expense of
$5.7 million associated with new closed-end fund launches
and general business growth, $4.8 million in professional
services and other costs incurred or reserved in connec-
tion with governmental investigations of the mutual fund
industry and the implementation of Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46R,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (revised
December 2003) (“FIN 46R”), $2.8 million in increased
occupancy costs related to the completon of BlackRock’s
new headquarters facility in mid-2002, $1.8 million in for-
eign currency expense due to the decline of the U.S. dollar,
$1.5 million in market data services and $1.3 million in
insurance premiums. The rise in fund administraton and
servicing costs paid to third parties was primarily attribut-
able to servicing costs related to new closed-end fund
launches. The decline in affiliated fund administration and

servicing costs is attributable to $13.4 million in decreased
expense related to redemptions of PNC-related assets dur-
ing 2003. Employee compensation and benefits expense,
excluding the impact of increased appreciation of Rabbi
trust assets, decreased $6.4 million, or 3%, and primarily
consisted of a $19.0 million decrease in direct incentive
compensation related to lower performance fees earned on
the Company’s fixed income hedge fund and a $2.2 million
reversal of deferred compensation expense that more than
offset increases in salaries and benefits of $6.8 million to
support business growth and increased general bonus
accruals of $5.8 million primarily due to operating income
growth. During the year ended December 31, 2003,
employee compensation costs increased $4.6 million com-
pared to the year ended December 31, 2002 due to
increased appreciation of Rabbi trust assets related to
BlackRock deferred compensation plans.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 Amount %
General and administration expense:
Marketing and promotional $28,052 $22,379 $5,673 253%
Occupancy 22,033 19,263 2,770 14.4
Technology 17,613 17,822 (209) (1.2)
Other general and administration 39,635 29,137 10,498 36.0

Total general and administration expense $107,333 $88,601 $18,732 21.1%

Operating Income and Net Income

Operating income was $228.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, representing a $13.1 million, or 6%,
increase compared with the year ended December 31, 2002.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, operating mar-
gin increased to 40.4% as compared to 40.2% during the
year ended December 31, 2002. Excluding the investment
performance impact of Rabbi trust assets associated with the




Company’s deferred compensation plans, operating margin
increased from 39.9%! during 2002 to 40.9%! during 2003.
The increase in operating margin was due to scale benefits
associated with higher fixed income, liquidity and BlackRock
Solutions revenue and a reduction in the Company’s bonus
accrual rate in 2003. Non-operating income increased
$13.8 million, or 157%, to $22.6 million during the year
ended December 31, 2003 compared to $8.8 million during
the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase in non-
operating income was primarily due to appreciation on
Rabbi trust assets related to the Company’s deferred
compensation plans of $4.7 million, increased interest and
dividend income on the Company’s corporate cash and
investments of $4.1 million, the recognition of impairment

(¢

losses totaling approximately $4.0 million on the Company’s
CDO and mutual fund investments during 2002 and
$1.0 million in gains on investments. Income tax expense
was $95.2 million and $90.7 million, representing effective
tax rates of 38% and 40.5% for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. The
decrease in the Company’s effective tax rate was due to
a previously disclosed decision that the Company will file
certain combined and unitary state income tax returns with
PNC Bank, N.A. (PNC Bank) and/or one or more PNC
Bank subsidiaries. Net income totaled $155.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2003, compared with $133.2 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2002, representing
an increase of $22.2 million, or 17%.

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002

Operating income, as reported, and used for operating margin measurement $228,276 $215,139

Add back: investment income on Rabbi trust assets 3,257 (1,443)

Operating income, as adjusted 231,533 213,696

Revenue, as reported 598,212 576,977

Less: fund administration and servicing costs (32,773) (41,779)

Revenue used for operating margin measurement 565,439 535,198
Adjusted operating margin 38.2% 37.3%
Operating margin, as reported in BlackRock, Inc.s financial highlights 40.4% 40.2%
Operatdng margin, as adjusted 40.9% 39.9%

Management believes that operating margin, as adjusted, is an effective indicator of izs ability ro effectively employ the Company's resources. Appreciarion on Rabbi trust assets
related to vhe Company's deferved compensation plans has been excluded becanse investment performance of these assets bhas a nominal impact on net inconte. Investment income
and compensation and benefits expense related to these plans increase and decrease in equal amounts except for minor timing differences.

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
AS COMPARED WITH THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Revenue

Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002
increased $43.8 million, or 8%, to $577.0 million, compared
with $533.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Investment advisory and administration fees increased $23.7
million, or 5%, to $519.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, compared with $495.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. The growth in investment
advisory and administration fees was primarily due to a 14%
increase in assets under management to $272.8 billion

at December 31, 2002. Other income of $57.8 million
increased $20.2 million, or 54%, for the year ended
December 31, 2002, compared with $37.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. The increase was the result
of increased sales of BlackRock Solutions products and services
but included approximately $6 million for a consulting
assignment that was terminated late in 2002 subsequent to
the client being acquired.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 Amount %
Investument advisory and administration fees:

Mutual funds $212,214 $217,361 ($5,147) (2.4%)

Separate accounts 306,951 278,126 28,825 10.4
Total investment advisory and administration fees 519,165 495,487 23,678 4.8
Other income 57,812 37,657 20,155 53.5
Total revenue $576,977 $533,144 $43,833 8.2%

Mutual fund advisory and administration fees decreased
$5.1 million, or 2%, to $212.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, compared with $217.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in mutual

fund revenue was due to a decline in BlackRock Fund fees of
$38.8 million, partially offset by increases of BlackRock
Liguidity Fund and closed-end fund fees of $22.4 million and
$11.1 million, respectively. The decrease in BlackRock Fund

31



32

revenue was due to a $6.1 billion, or 25%, decline in assets
of which 79% related to withdrawals by PNC-related
accounts. The increase in BlackRock Liguidity Fund revenue
was the result of a $9.2 billion, or 20%, increase in average
assets due to expanded marketing efforts, flight to quality
considerations and declining interest rates. Closed-end fund
revenue increased $11.1 million due to an increase in assets

of $2.6 billion due to BlackRock’s new fund offerings.

Separate account advisory fees increased $28.8 million, or
10%, to $307.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2002, compared with $278.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. Excluding performance fees, advisory
fees on separate accounts increased $44.3 million, or
20%, to $266.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2002, compared with $222.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The growth in separate account rev-
enue excluding performance fees was attributable to solid
relative investment returns resulting in a $37.1 billion, or
31%, increase in fixed income separate account assets,

partially offset by a $5.7 billion decrease in low fee generat-
ing liquidity and liquidity-securities lending account assets.
Performance fees of $40.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 decreased $15.4 million, or 28%, com-
pared with $56.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001. Fund investment losses during the second and third
quarters of 2002 have resulted in a high water mark for the
Company’s fixed income hedge fund, which resulted in a
decrease in earned incentive fees of $16.3 million, or 35%,
to $30.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002
compared with $46.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2002. BlackRock will not earn additional performance
fees on the fund until such tme as positive investment per-
formance exceeds the high water mark. The decrease in
fixed income hedge fund performance fees during the year
ended December 31, 2002 was partially offset by a $1.2 mil-
lion increase in incentive fees earned from real estate alter-
native investment products.

Year ended December 31, Variance
(Doltar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 Amount %
Mutual funds revenue
BlackRock Funds $83,647 $122,476 ($38,829) (31.7%)
Closed-end Funds 41,591 30,474 11,117 36.5
BlackRock Liquidity Funds 86,115 63,688 22,427 35.2
STIF 861 723 138 19.1
Total mutual funds revenue 212,214 217,361 (5,147) 2.9
Separate accounts revenue
Separate accounts base fees 266,252 222,002 44,250 19.9
Separate accounts performance fees 40,699 56,124 (15,425) (27.5)
Total separate accounts revenue 306,951 278,126 28,825 10.4
Total investment advisory and administration fees 519,165 495,487 23,678 4.8
Other income 57,812 37,657 20,155 53.5
Total revenue $576,977 $533,144 $43,833 8.2%

Expense

Total expense decreased $1.1 million to $361.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002, compared with $363.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The change

primarily reflects decreases in fund administration and

servicing costs-affiliates and amortization of intangible
assets partially offset by increases in employee compensation
and benefits, general and administration expense and fund
administration and servicing costs paid to third parties.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 Amount %
Employee compensation and benefits $230,634 $215,118 $15,516 7.2%
Fund administration and servicing costs

Affiliates 40,304 60,829 (20,525) (33.7)

Other 1,475 — 1,475 NM
General and administration 88,601 76,567 12,034 15.7
Amortization of intangible assets 824 10,454 (9,630) 92.1)

Total expense $361,838 $362,968 ($1,130) (0.3%)

NM = Not meaningful

For the year ended December 31, 2002, affiliated fund
administration and servicing costs declined $20.5 million, or
34%, due to the reduction of PNC client investments in the

BlackRock Funds to $12.1 billion at December 31, 2002,
compared with $16.9 billion at December 31, 2001, and
the effect of a revised investment management services




agreement with PNC that became effective on July 1, 2002.
Amortzation of intangible assets decreased due to the adop-
tion of SFAS No. 142 effective on January 1, 2002, which
changed the accounting for goodwill from an amortization
method to an impairment-only approach. Employee com-
pensation and benefits increased $15.5 million primarily due
to a $15.1 million increase in incentdve compensation based
on the growth of operating income and $10.1 million related
to salary and benefits, pardally offset by decreases of
$8.3 million related to direct incentives on alternative prod-
uct performance fees and $1.4 million atributable to invest-
ment losses with respect to senior employee elections under

BlackRock’s Voluntary and Involuntary Deferred Compen-
sation Plans. Salary and benefit cost increases reflected a
14% increase in full-time employees to support business
growth. General and administration expenses increased
$12.0 million, or 16%, to $88.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, compared with $76.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001, largely due to new business
activity, increased headcount and corporate space and tech-
nology investments. During 2002, the Company incurred
$1.5 million in fund administration and servicing costs to
third parties in connection with servicing of newly-launched

closed-end funds.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 Amount %
General and administration expense:
Marketing and promotional $23,854 $20,341 $3,513 17.3%
Occupancy 19,263 12,560 6,703 53.4
Technology 17,822 14,398 3424 23.8
Other general and administration 27,662 29,268 (1,606) (5.5

Total general and administration expense $88,601 $76,567 $12,034 15.7%

Marketing and promotional expenses of $23.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002 increased $3.5 million,
or 17%, primarily due to increased costs associated with new
products and services, pardcularly asset based servicing fees
on new closed-end funds as well as to support strong organic
growth in established products. Occupancy expense of $19.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased
$6.7 million due to higher expenses associated with corpo-
rate facility expansion, particularly in 40 East 520d Street,
New York, Wilmington, Delaware, San Francisco, Cali-
fornia, Boston, Massachusetts, Hong Kong and Tokyo.
Technology expenses increased approximately $3.4 million,
or 24%, to $17.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2002 as a resulc of higher depreciation charges associated
with the completion of new data processing facilities in New
York and Delaware, and capitalized investments to support
the growth of BlackRock Solutions processing services.

Operating Income and Net Income

Operating income was $215.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, representing a $45.0 million, or 26%,
increase compared with the year ended December 31, 2001.
During the year ended December 31, 2002, operating

margin increased to 40.2% as compared to 36.0% during
the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase in operat-
ing margin was due to scale benefits associated with higher
fixed income, liquidity and BlackRock Solutions revenue and a
reduction in amortization of intangible assets expense due to
the Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 142. Non-operating
income decreased $2.0 million, or 19%, to $8.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002, compared with the year
ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in non-operating
income was primarily due to a decrease in interest income of
$2.2 million attributable to falling interest rates, the recog-
nition of $1.8 million in incremental impairment losses on
the Company’s available-for-sale securities and $1.4 million
in investment losses associated with senior employee elec-
tions under BlackRock’s Voluntary and Involuntary
Deferred Compensation Plans, partally offset by $3.2 mil-
lion in securities gains. Income tax expense was $90.7 mil-
lion and $73.6 mullion, representing effective tax rates of
40.5% and 40.6% for the years ended December 31, 2002
and December 31, 2001, respectively. Net income totaled
$133.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, com-
pared with $107.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2001, representing an increase of $25.8 million, or 24%.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

BlackRock meets its working capital requirements through
cash generated by its operating activities. Cash provided by
the Company’s operating activities totaled $179.6 million,
$172.0 million and $167.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectvely. Operating
activities for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

included net purchases of investments, trading, of approxi-
mately $17.1 million and $17.4 million, respectively, which
represented investments associated with senior employee
elections under BlackRock’s Voluntary and Involuntary
Deferred Compensation Plans and $6.0 million in seed
investments made in two quantitative equity products
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during 2003. BlackRock expects that cash flows provided by
operating actvities will continue to serve as the principal
source of working capital.

Net cash flow used in investing activities was $19.6 million,
$96.8 million and $167.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Capital
expenditures in 2003 for property and equipment were
$13.5 million, compared to $42.8 million during the year
ended December 31, 2002, and reflected the purchase of
equipment to support corporate expansion and the growth
of BlackRock Solutions. Cash paid for acquisitions of $8.9
million during the year ended December 31, 2003 consists
of the acquisition of an 80% interest in a hedge fund of
funds manager and the settlement of a contingent payment
related to the acquisition of an equity hedge fund manager
in 2002. Net sales of investments were $2.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2003, which primarily reflected a
$74.1 million incremental divestiture of investments in
the Company’s fixed income mutual funds, partially offset
by a $63.2 million net investment in municipal bonds and
$7.1 million in seed investments made in certain new alter-
native investrment products.

Net cash flow used in financing activities was $102.3 mil-
lion, $8.2 million and $6.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Financing
activities primarily represented treasury stock actvity and
the payment of BlackRock’s first two quarterly dividends of
$0.20 per share during the year ended December 31, 2003.
On February 26, 2004, BlackRock’s Board of Directors
approved a 25% increase in BlackRock’s quarterly dividend
to $0.25 per share. Under the Company’s share repurchase
program, BlackRock acquired approximately 1.6 million
shares at a total cost of $75.1 million during the year ended
December 31, 2003. In addition, in connection with the
BlackRock Long-Term Deferred Compensation Plan,
BlackRock repurchased approximately 157,000 shares of
class A common stock at a total cost of $6.8 million from
certain employees to facilitate required employee income
tax payments during 2003. Approximately $7.5 million
received by the Company, related primarily to the exercise
of stock options, partially offset these transactions during
the year ended December 31, 2003.

Subsequent to December 31, 2003, BlackRock’s Board of
Directors approved a 2 million share repurchase program.
The Company may make repurchases from time to time as
market conditions warrant in open market or privately nego-
tiated transactons at the full discretion of the Company’s
management. The authority to purchase 310,000 shares
available under pre-existing programs terminated with the
approval of this program. In addition to authorizing the new
share repurchase program, the Board of Directors also
approved a management stock buy-back (the Management
Buy-Back) that authorized BlackRock to purchase shares
owned by senior management through the repurchase
program. Shares repurchased by the Company under the
Management Buy-Back reduced the current 2 million share
repurchase authorization. Eligible participants elected to sell
an aggregate of 690,575 shares which, based on BlackRock’s
average closing price for the five days ended January 28,
2004, approximated $40.4 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company’s
free cash flow, defined as cash provided by operating activi-
ties ($179.6 million and $172.0 million during the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively) less pur-
chases of property and equipment ($13.5 million and $42.9
million during the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively), increased by $37.0 million to $166.1
million as compared to $129.1 million during the year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase in the Company’s free
cash flow is primarily atwibutable to significant capital
expenditures of $42.9 million made during the year ended
December 31, 2002, which reflected construction costs and
purchases of equipment for 40 East 52nd Street, New York,
New York, the Company’s corporate headquarters which
was completed in mid-2002, compared to $13.5 million dur-
ing the current period. We believe that free cash flow may
be useful to investors as an indicator of the Company’s abil-
ity to meet working capital requirements.

Total capital at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $714.5
million and $634.7 million, respectively, and was comprised
primarily of stockholders’ equity.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

The Company leases its primary office space under agree-
ments that expire through 2017. In connection with cer-
tain lease agreements, the Company is responsible for
escalation payments.

In connection with the management contract acquired on
May 15, 2000 associated with the agreement and plan of
merger of CORE Cap, Inc. with Anthracite, a BlackRock
managed REIT, the Company recorded an $8.0 million
liability using an imputed interest rate of 10%, the prevail-
ing interest rate on the date of acquisidon. For the year

ended December 31, 2003, the related expense was $0.6 mil-
lion. At December 31, 2003, the future commitment under
the agreement is $8.0 million. If Anthracite’s management
contract with BlackRock is terminated, not renewed or not
extended for any reason other than cause, Anthracite would
remit to the Company all future payments due under
this obligation.

In the ordinary course of business, BlackRock enters into
contracts (purchase obligations) with third parties pursuant
to which the third parties provide services to or on behalf of




BlackRock. Purchase obligations represent executory con-
tracts which are either noncancelable or cancelable with
penalty. At December 31, 2003, the Company’s obligatons
primarily reflect shareholder servicing arrangements related
to client investments in the BlackRock Closed-end Funds,
subadvisory agreements and standard service contracts with
third parties for portfolio, market data and office services.

In many of the contracts, BlackRock agrees to indemnify
the third party service provider under certain circumstances.

Summary of Commitments:

The terms of the indemnity vary from contract to contract
and the amount of indemnification liability, if any, cannot
be determined.

The Company has entered into a commitment to invest $7.7
million in Carbon Capital, Inc., an alternative investment
fund sponsored by BlackRock of which $3.5 million
remained unfunded at December 31, 2003.

(Dollar amounts in thousands) Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008  Thereafter
Lease Commitments $162,142 $11,796 $11,021 $11,000 $10,966 $10,966 $106,393
Purchase Obligations 27,020 14,566 4,640 4,381 2,891 552 —
Acquired Management Contract 8,000 1,500 1,500 1,000 1,000 1,000 2,000
Investment Commitments 3,537 3,537 — — — — —

Total Commitments $200,699 $31,399 $17,161 $16,381 $14,857 $12,518 $108,393

On April 30, 2003, the Company purchased 80% of the out-
standing equity interests of an investrment manager of a
hedge fund of funds for approximately $4.1 million in cash.
Additonally, the Company has committed to purchase the
investment manager’s remaining equity on March 31, 2008,
subject to certain acceleration provisions. The purchase
price of this remaining interest is performance-based and is
not subject to a maximum or the contnued employment of
former employees of the investment manager with the
Company. The Company is unable to estimate its potential
obligation at this time. Therefore, it is not included in the
table above.

As previously disclosed, BlackRock has received subpoenas
from various federal and state governmental and regulatory
authorities and various information requests from the
Securites and Exchange Commission in connection with
industry-wide investigations of mutual fund matters.
BlackRock is continuing to cooperate fully in these matters,
and has incurred or reserved approximately $4.0 million to
cover the currently estimated aggregate costs in connection
with these regulatory matters.

INCOME TAX MATTERS

The Company’s New York state income tax returns are
under examination for the years ended December 31, 1998,
1999, 2000 and 2001. The primary issues raised by the state
taxing authority are whether certain BlackRock subsidiaries

should have filed in the state and whether BlackRock is

permitted to be included in a combined tax return filing with

PNC. Management does not expect the results of this exam-
ination to adversely affect the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilites and disclosure of contingent assets and liabili-
ties at the date of the consolidated financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Management considers the following accounting
policies critical to an informed review of BlackRock’s con-
solidated financial statements. For a summary of these and
additional accounting policies see Note 1 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 49
of this annual report.

Investments
Readily Marketable Securities

The accounting method used for the Company’s readily
marketable securites is dependent upon the Company’s
ownership level. If BlackRock does not possess significant
influence over the issuer’s operations, the securities are
classified as trading or available for sale, depending on the
Company’s intent on holding the security. If BlackRock
holds significant influence over the issuer of a readily mar-
ketable equity security, the investment is accounted for
under the equity method of accounting and included in
investments, other. Company management’s conclusion that
BlackRock holds significant influence over an issuer whose
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security was previously classified as an available for sale
security has a significant impact on the Company’s net
income due to the related accounting treatment. Under the
equity method, the Company’s share of the investee’s net
income is recorded in investment income (loss) while unre-
alized gains and losses on available for sale securities are
recorded in the accumulated other comprehensive income
or loss component of stockholders’ equity until the securi-
ties are sold. Unrealized losses incurred during the year
ended December 31, 2003 on readily marketable available
for sale securities were approximately $1.7 million.

Nonmarketable Equity Securities

Investunents, other, are accounted for using the cost or
equity methods of accounting. If the Company has signifi-
cant influence over the investee’s operatons, the equity
method of accountng is used and the Company’s share
of the investee’s net income is recorded as investment
income (expense) for alternative investment products and
other income for operating joint ventures. If the Com-
pany does not maintain significant influence over the
investee’s operations, the cost method of accoundng is used.
Under the cost method of accounting, investment income is
recognized as received or upon the sale of the security.
Therefore, Company managements conclusion that
BlackRock holds significant influence over an issuer has a
significant impact on the Company’s net income. Unrealized
gains on investments accounted for under the cost method
totaled approximately $0.7 million during the year ended
December 31, 2003.

Impairment of Securities

The Company’s management periodically assesses impairment
on investments to determine if it is other than temporary.

Several of the Company’s available for sale investments rep-
resent interests in collateralized debt obligations in which
the Company acts in the capacity of collateral manager. The
Company reviews cash flow estimates throughout the life of
each collateralized debt obligation to determine if an
impairment charge is required to be taken through current
earnings. If the updated estimate of future cash flows (taking
into account both timing and amount) is less than the last
revised estimate, an impairment is recognized based on the
excess of the carrying amount of the investment over its
fair value.

In evaluating impairments on all other available for sale and
other securities, the Company considers the length of time
and the extent to which the security’s market value, if deter-
minable, has been less than its cost, the financial condition
and near-term prospects of the security’s issuer and the
Company’s intended holding period for the security.

BlackRock Long Term Retention and Incentive Plan
(the LTIP)

The LTIP permits the grant of up to $240 million in
deferred compensation awards (the LTTP Awards), subject to
the achievement of certain performance hurdles by the
Company no later than March 2007. The Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors may vest a
portion of the I'TIP Awards, in its sole discretion, if the
Company achieves certain alternative performance hurdles
during the vesting period. For a more detailed discussion of
the LTIP, refer to Note 10 in the Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

There will be no expense recognition associated with the
L'TIP Awards unless vesting occurs or a pardal vesting
determination is considered probable and estimable. The
Compensation and Audit Committees have determined,
based on current conditions, that the probability of indicat-
ing any partial vesting prior to the opportunity for com-
mencement of full vesting of the program at the conclusion
of the first quarter of 2005 is unlikely. The LTIP was con-
structed such that the expected increase in value to stock-
holders necessary to fully vest the program had to result
from continued growth in the Company’s earnings rather
than from changes in the financial markets. As such, the
Compensation Committee established a minimum perfor-
mance period (through December 31, 2004) under which
no vesting of the program would occur. At such time, the
Compensation and Audit Committees will evaluate the like-
lihood that the Company will complete the program term
with alternative vesting criteria performance in excess of
LTIP requirements. The Company will accrue expense for
this contingency accordingly.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability
method prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to the differences
between the financial statement carrying amount of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation. Depreciation generally is provided on
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the various classes of property and equipment. Accelerated
methods are used for income tax purposes. Leasehold
improvements are amortzed using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives or lease terms, whichever is
shorter. A change in an asset class’s estimated useful life by
management would have a significant impact on the Com-
pany’s depreciation expense (approximately $20.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003) due to the concen-
tration of the Company’s property and equipment in rela-
tively short-lived assets (useful lives of three to five years).
A summary of the estimated useful lives used, by asset class,
is included in Note 3 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.




RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised
2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIIN
46R”). FIN 46R addresses the application of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial State-
ments,” to variable interest entites (“VIE”) and generally
would require that the assets, liabilities and results of opera-
tions of a VIE be consolidated into the financial statements
of the enterprise that has a controlling financial interest in
it. The interpretation provides a framework for determining
whether an entity should be evaluated for consolidation
based on voting interests or significant financial support
provided to the entity (“variable interests”).

An entity is classified as a VIE if total equity is not sufficient
to permit the entity to finance its activities without addi-
tional subordinated financial support or its equity investors
lack the direct or indirect ability to make decisions about an
entity’s activities through voting rights, absorb the expected
losses of the entity if they occur or receive the expected
residual returns of the entity if they occur. Once an entity is
determined to be a VIE, its assets, liabilities and results of
operations should be consolidated with those of its primary
beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the entity
that either will absorb a majority of the VIE’s expected
losses or has the right to receive a majority of the VIE’
expected residual returns. The expected losses and residual
returns of a VIE include expected variability in its net
income or loss, fees to decision makers and fees to guaran-
tors of substantially all VIE assets or liabilities and are cal-
culated in accordance with Statement of Financial Account-
ing Concept No. 7, “Using Cash Flow Information and
Present Value in Accounting Measurements.”

A public enterprise with a variable interest in a VIE must
apply FIN 46R to that VIE no later than the end of the first
reporting period that ends after March 15, 2004, with the
exception of special purpose entities (“SPEs”), as defined.
A public enterprise with a variable interest in an SPE that
has been deemed a VIE must apply FIN 46R to that VIE
no later than the end of the first reporting period that ends
after December 15, 2003. Additionally, if it is reasonably
possible that an enterprise will consolidate or disclose infor-
mation about a VIE when the guidance becomes effective,
there are several disclosure requirements effective for all
financial statements issued after January 31, 2003. The
Company has included the required disclosures for VIEs in
which it has significant involvement in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 44
of this annual report.

Pursuant to the conceptual framework set forth in FIN 46R,
the Company’s management has concluded that it is not the
primary beneficiary of any SPEs that have been deemed
VIEs. Therefore, the adoption of FIN 46R has not had
a material impact on the Company’s consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Under previous guidance, the Company’s management
determined that the Company was the primary beneficiary
of six collateralized debt obligations (CDO) and consoli-
dated the results of operations, financial positon and cash
flow for these entities during the three months ended
September 30, 2003. The CDOs were subsequently decon-
solidated under FIN 46R. A reconciliation of BlackRock’s
adjusted condensed consolidated statements of financial
condition and operations as of and for the three months
ended September 30, 2003 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended
September 30, 2003 is included in Note 1 to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised
December 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions
and Other Postretirement Benefits, an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 88, and 106” (“SFAS No. 132R”). This
statement requires additional disclosures about the assets,
obligations, cash flows and net period benefit costs of a
Company’s defined benefit pension and postretirement
plans but does not change the measurement or recognition
requirements set forth in preexisting guidance. The Com-
pany participates in PNC%s defined benefit pension and
postretirement plans and does not maintain its own plans.
No separate financial obligaton data for the Company is
available with respect to such plans. Therefore, the adoption
of SFAS No. 132R, which is effective for all fiscal years end-
ing after December 15, 2003, did not have an impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting
for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of
both Liabilittes and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 addresses the
standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain
financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilides
and equity. SFAS No. 150 became effectve for all instruments
issued after May 1, 2003 and is required to be applied to all
financial instruments as of the beginning of the first interim
or annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2003.
The adoption of this statement did not have a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment
of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Actvities.” SFAS No. 149 amended and clarified financial
accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, includ-
ing derivative instruments embedded in other contracts
and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS
No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified
after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated
after June 30, 2003. The adoption of this statement did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries provide
investment advisory and administration services to the
BlackRock Funds, the BlackRock Liquidity Funds, the BlackRock

Closed-end Funds and other commingled funds. Revenues
for services provided to these mutual funds, including
amounts earned from PNC-related accounts, are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Investment advisory and administration fees:
BlackRock Funds:
PNC $39,771 $58,145 $88,524
Other 29,590 25,502 33,952
BlackRock Closed-end Funds — Other 52,685 41,591 30,474
BlackRock Liquidity Funds
PNC 13,131 14,203 11,900
Other* 69,904 71,912 51,788
STIF — PNC 1,055 861 723
$206,136 $212,214 $217,361

* Includes the International Dollar Reserve Fund I, Ltd., a Cayman Islands open-ended limited liability company.

The Company provides investment advisory and adminis-
tration services to certain PNC subsidiaries, Nomura Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (Nomura), a strategic joint venture
partner, and affiliates of Nomura for a fee, based on assets

under management. Inaddidon, the Company provides risk
management and private client services to PNC.

Revenues for such services are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Separate accounts — Nomura $13,021 $10,856 $8,316
Separate accounts — PNC 7,585 5,883 5,663
Private Client Services — PNC 5,525 5,525 5,525
Other income-risk management — PNC 5,000 5,000 5,000

$31,131 $27,264 $24,504

Total revenue earned by BlackRock for providing asset
management and other services to PNC subsidiaries or
PNC-related accounts for the years ended December 31,

2003, 2002 and 2001 totaled $72.1 million, $89.6 million
and $117.3 million, respectively.

PNC subsidiaries and PNC-related accounts had the following investments in BlackRock sponsored mutual funds or separate

accounts:
Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2003 2002 - 2001
BlackRock Funds $9.850 $11,498 $17,468
BlackRock Liquidity Funds 8,280 9,415 9,527
STIF 744 655 575
Separate accounts 13,060 9,818 14,876

$31,934 $31,386 $42,446

The Company has entered into various memoranda of
understanding and co-administration agreements with affil-
iates of PNC pursuant to which the Company pays admin-
istration fees for the BlackRock Liquidity Funds and certain
other commingled funds and service fees for PNC Advisors’
(PNC’s wealth management business) clients invested in the
BlackRock Funds.

PNC provides general and administration services to the
Company. Charges for such services were based on actual
usage or on defined formulas which, in management’s view,
resulted in reasonable allocations. Additionally, the
Company has entered into subadvisory and consulting
agreements with Nomura and an entity whose President and
Chief Executive Officer serves on the Company’s Board
of Directors.




Aggregate expenses included in the consolidated financial statements for transactions with related parties are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

(Dollay amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Fund administration and servicing costs $26,949 $40,304 $60,829
General and administration 5,773 6,397 6,728
General and administration-consulting 1,447 1,616 1,270

$34,169 $48,317 $68,827

Additionally, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of PNC
acts as a financial intermediary associated with the sale of
back-end loaded shares of certain BlackRock Funds. This
entity finances broker sales commissions and receives all
associated sales charges.

Included in accounts receivable is approximately $9.8 mil-
lion at both December 31, 2003 and 2002, which primarily
represents investment advisory and administration services
provided to Nomura and PNC subsidiaries and affiliates.

Receivable from affiliates was $0.1 million and $0.3 million
at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These
amounts primarily represent expenses paid on behalf of the
BlackRock Funds and the BlackRock closed-end funds.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities-affiliates was $40.7
million and $24.0 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,

respectively. These amounts primarily represent income
taxes payable and fund administration and servicing costs-
affiliates payable and do not bear interest.

Under the Management Buy-Back, eligible participants
elected to sell 690,575 shares, representing 5.4% of the total
holdings (defined as vested and unvested stock and stock
options and, subject to satisfaction of performance goals,
shares issuable under the LTIP) of senior management
(8.3% of vested stock and stock options). Among the
eligible partcipants, Laurence D. Fink, Chief Executive
Officer, sold 250,000 shares; Ralph L. Schlosstein,
President, sold 100,000 shares; Robert S. Kapito, Vice
Chairman, sold 50,000 shares and Paul L. Audet, Chief
Financial Officer, sold 25,000 shares. In all cases, the sales
by these executives represented less than 10% of their
total holdings.

INTEREST RATES

The value of assets under management is affected by
changes in interest rates. Since BlackRock derives the
majority of its revenues from investment advisory fees based
on the value of assets under management, BlackRock’s

revenues may be adversely affected by changing interest
rates. In a period of rapidly rising interest rates, BlackRock’s
assets under management would likely be negatively affected
by reduced asset values and increased redemptions.

INFLATION

The majority of BlackRock’s revenues are based on the value
of assets under management. There is no predictable rela-
tonship between the rate of infladon and the value of assets
under management by BlackRock, except as inflation may
affect interest rates. BlackRock does not believe inflation
will significantly affect its compensation costs, as they
are substantially variable in nature. However, the rate of

inflation may affect BlackRock’s expenses, such as informa-
don technology and occupancy costs. To the extent inflation
results in rising interest rates and has other effects upon the
securities markets, it may adversely affect BlackRock’s
results of operations by reducing BlackRock’s assets under
management, revenues or otherwise.

RISKS

As a leading invesunent management firm, risk is an inher-
ent part of BlackRock’s business. Global markets, by their
nature, are prone to uncertainty and subject participants
to a variety of risks. As previously discussed in this report,
risk management is considered to be of paramount impor-
tance to BlackRock’s day-to-day operations. Consequently,
BlackRock devotes significant resources across all its opera-
tions to the identification, measurement, monitoring, man-
agement and analysis of market and operating risk, including
investments in personnel and technology.

Change in the securities markets could lead to a decline in
our revenues

Our investment management revenues are comprised of fees
based on a percentage of the value of assets under manage-
ment and performance fees expressed as a percentage of the
returns realized on assets under management. A decline in
the prices of stocks or bonds could cause our revenues to
decline by:
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® Causing the value of our assets under management to
decrease, which would result in lower investment manage-
ment fees;

* Causing the returns realized on our assets under manage-
ment to decrease, which would result in lower perfor-
mance fees;

¢ Causing our clients to withdraw funds in favor of invest-
ments in markets that they perceive to offer greater
opportunity and that we do not serve, which would result
in lower investment management fees; and

* Causing our clients to rebalance assets away from invest-
ments that BlackRock manages into investiments that
BlackRock does not manage.

Poor investinent performance could lead to loss of our
clients and a decline in our revenues

We believe that investment performance is one of the most
important factors for the growth of our assets under man-
agement. Poor investment performance relative to the port-
folio benchmarks and to our competitors could impair our
revenues and growth because:

* Existing clients might withdraw funds in favor of better
performing products, which would result in lower invest-
ment management fees;

® Opr ability to attract funds from existing and new clients
might diminish; and

¢ We might earn minimal or no performance fees.

Loss of key employees could lead to loss of clients and
a decline in our vevenues

BlackRock’s ability to attract and retain quality personnel
has contributed significantly to its growth and success and
is important to attracting and retaining clients. The market
for qualified fund managers, investment analysts, financial
advisers and other professionals is extremely competitive.
"There can be no assurance that BlackRock will be success-
ful in its efforts to recruit and retain the required per-
sonnel. BlackRock has encouraged the continued retention
of its executives and other key personnel through measures
such as providing deferred compensation and annual and
long-term competitive compensation arrangements, and in
the case of BlackRock’s Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, an employment agreement. However, there can be
no assurance that BlackRock will be successful in retaining
all of its key personnel. Loss of a significant number of key
‘personnel could have an adverse effect on BlackRock.

Failure to maintain our technological advantage could
lead to a loss of clients and a decline in our revenues

A key element to our continued success is our ability to
maintain our technological advantage both in terms of oper-
ational efficiency and in supporting the sophisticated risk
analytics incorporated into our operating systems. There
can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain this
technological advantage or be able to effectively protect and
enforce our intellectual property rights in these systems
and processes.

Loss of significant sepavate accounts would decrease
our revenues

We had approximately 455 separate account clients on
December 31, 2003, of which the ten largest (excluding

alternative investment products and BlackRock Solutions
clients) generated approximately 8% of our total revenues
during 2003. Our clients may terminate investment man-
agement contracts or withdraw funds on short notce.
A change in control of BlackRock or PNC may also require
re-approval by registered investment companies of their
investment management contracts with us. Loss of any of
these accounts would reduce our revenues. We have, from
time to time, lost separate accounts because of corporate
mergers and restructuring, and in the future we could lose
accounts under these or other circumstances, such as adverse
market conditions or poor performance.

Concentration of PNC-related assets could vesult in loss of
revenue if the PNC-related assets are withdrawn by PNC
or PNC-related accounts

Approximately 10% (332 billion at December 31, 2003) of
assets under management for BlackRock are assets related to
PNC. PNC or PNC related accounts may withdraw these
assets at any time and we may not be able to replace them.
In addition, we may not be successful in increasing sales
through PNC channels and PNC may determine not to
continue using or making available our products. During
2003, BlackRock incurred $27.0 million of fund administra-
tion and servicing costs paid to PNC (7% of total expense)
on PNC-related assets.

Competitive fee pressures conld reduce our revenues and
our profit margins

The investment management business is highly competitive
and has relatively low barriers to entry. To the extent that we
are forced to compete on the basis of price, we may not be
able to maintain our current fee structure. Fee reductions on
existing or future new business could cause our revenues and
profit margins to decline.

Performance fees may increase earnings volatility, which
could decrease our stock price

A portion of our revenues are derived from performance
fees on some investment and risk management advisory
assignments. In most cases, performance fees are based on
investment returns, although in some cases they are based
on achieving specific service standards. Generally, we are
entitled to performance fees only if the returns on the
related portfolios exceed agreed-upon periodic or cumula-
tive return targets. If we do not exceed these targets, we will
not generate performance fees for that period and, if targets
are based on cumulative returns, we may not earn perfor-
mance fees in future periods. Performance fees will vary
from period to period in relation to volatility in investment
returns, causing our earnings to be more volatile than if we
did not manage assets on a performance fee basis. The vola-
tility in our earnings may decrease our stock price. Perfor-
mance fees represented 1% of our total revenue in 2003,

Our corporate or acquisition strategies may decrease our
earnings and barm our competitive position

We employ a variety of strategies intended to enhance our
earnings and expand our product offerings to improve our
profit margins. These strategies included smaller-sized
lift-outs of investment teams and acquisitions of invest-
ment management businesses. In general, our strategies
may not be effective and failure to successfully develop
and implement our strategies may decrease our earnings
and harm our competitive position in the investment




management industry. In the event we pursue meaningful
acquisitions, we may not be able to find suitable businesses
to acquire at acceptable prices and we may not be able to
successfully integrate or realize the intended benefits from
these acquisitions.

Failure to develop effective business resiliency plans could
disrupt operations and cause financial losses, which could
decrease our stock price

We are dependent on the availability of our office facilides
and the proper functioning of our computer and telecom-
munications systems. A disaster, such as water damage, an
explosion or a prolonged loss of electrical power, could
materially interrupt our business operations and cause mate-
rial financial loss, loss of human capital, regulatory actons,
breach of client contracts, reputational harm or legal liabil-
ity, which, in turn, could cause a decline in our stock price.

Failure to implement effective information security poli-
cies, procedures and capabilities could disrupt operations
and cause financial losses which could vesult in a decrease
in our earnings or stock price

We are dependent on the effectiveness of our information
security policies, procedures and capabilities to protect our
computer and telecommunications systems, and the data that
reside on or are transmitted through them. An externally
caused information security incident, such as a hacker attack
or a virus or worm, or an internally caused issue, such as fail-
ure to control access to sensitive systems, could materially
interrupt our business operations or cause disclosure or modi-
fication of sensitive or confidential information and could
result in material financial loss, regulatory actions, breach of
client contracts, reputational harm or legal liability, which,
in turn, could cause a decline in our earnings or stock price.

Failure to comply with client contractual requirements
and/or guidelines could result in damage awards against
us and loss of revenues due to client terminations, both of
which could cause our earnings or stock price to decline

When clients retain us to manage assets or provide BlackRock
Solutions products or services on their behalf, they specify
guidelines or contractual requirements that we are required
to observe in the provision of our services. A failure to com-
ply with these guidelines or contractual requirements could
result in losses that the client could seek to recover from us and
the client withdrawing its assets from our management, both
of which could cause our earnings or stock price to decline.

Failure to comply with government regulations could
result in fines or temporary or permanent probibitions
on our activities, which could cause our earnings or stock
price to decline

Our business is subject to extensive regulation in the United
States and certain of our activities are subject to the laws of
non-U.S. jurisdictions and non-U.S. regulatory agencies or
bodies. Recently, the SEC and other governmental agencies
have been investigating the mutual fund industry. The SEC
has adopted and proposed various rules, and legislation has
been introduced in Congress, the effect of which will further
regulate the mutual fund industry and impose additional
compliance obligations, and cost for fulfilling such obliga-
tions, on BlackRock. Violation of applicable laws or regula-
tions could result in fines, temporary or permanent
prohibiton of our engagement in certain activities, reputa-
tional harm, suspensions of our personnel or revocation of

their licenses, suspension or termination of our investment
adviser or broker-dealer registrations, or other sanctions, which
could cause our earnings or stock price to decline.

Certain of our subsidiaries are registered with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Investment
Advisers Act, and BlackRock’s mutual funds are registered
with the SEC under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
The Investment Advisers Act imposes numerous obligations
on registered investment advisers including record-keeping,
operating and marketing requirements, disclosure obliga-
tions and prohibitions on fraudulent activities. The Invest-
ment Company Act imposes similar obligatons, as well as
additional detailed operational requirements, on investment
advisers to registered investment companies. The failure of
one of our subsidiaries to comply with the Invesunent
Advisers Act or the Investment Company Act could cause
the SEC to institute proceedings and impose sanctions for
violations of either of these acts, including censure, termi-
nation of an investment adviser’s registration, or prohibiton
to serve as adviser to SEC-registered funds and could lead to
litigation by investors in those funds, any of which could
cause our earnings or stock price to decline.

Failure to comply with ERISA regulations could result in
penalties against us and cause our earnings or stock price
to decline

Our asset management subsidiaries are subject to the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, or
ERISA, and to regulatons promulgated thereunder, insofar
as they act as a “fiduciary” under ERISA with respect to ben-
efit plan clients. ERISA and applicable provisions of the
Internal Revenue Code impose duties on persons who are
fiduciaries under ERISA, prohibit specified transactions
involving ERISA plan clients and provide monetary penal-
ties for violations of these prohibitions. The failure of any of
our subsidiaries to comply with these requirements could
result in significant penalties against us that could reduce
our earnings or cause our stock price to decline.

Ouyr largest stockholder, PNC, controls a majority of the
outstanding voting power of our common stock, and our
other stockbolders will be unable to affect the outcome
of stockbolder voting while PNC remains the majority
stockholder

Four of our eleven directors are directors and/or executive
officers of PNC and, as of December 31, 2003, PNC indi-
rectly owned approximately 70% of our outstanding common
stock, representing approximately 83% of the combined
voting power of all classes of voting stock of BlackRock. As
long as PNC owns a majority of the voting power of our
common stock, PNC will be able to elect our entire board
of directors and to remove any director, with or without
cause, and generally to determine the outcome of all corpo-
rate actions requiring stockholder approval. Additionally,
our bylaws provide that, subject to applicable law and rules
of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), prior to the date
on which PNC or another person beneficially owns less than
a majority of the voting power of BlackRock common stock,
a majority of all directors on the committees of our board of
directors will be designated by PNC or such other person.
As a result, subject to the power of executive management to
manage the day-to-day operations of BlackRock, PNC will
be in a position to continue to control all matters affecting
BlackRock, including:
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® the composition of our board of directors and, through i,
any determination with respect to the direction and poli-
cies of BlackRock, including the appointment and removal
of officers;

® any determination with respect to mergers or other busi-
ness combinations involving BlackRock;

® the acquisition or disposition of assets by BlackRock;

® future issuances of common stock or other securities of
BlackRock;

¢ the incurrence of debt by BlackRock;

* amendments, waivers and modifications to our agree-
ments, including those with PNC;

¢ the payment of dividends on our common stock; and

¢ determinations with respect to the treatment of items in
our tax returns that are consolidated or combined with
PNCs tax returns.

Banking regulation of PNC and BlackRock limits
our activities and the types of businesses in which
we may engage

Because PNC is 2 bank holding company and BlackRock is
a subsidiary of PNC and PNC Bank, National Association,
its national bank subsidiary (PINC Bank), we are subject to
general bank regulations that limit our actdvities and the
types of businesses in which we may engage. Banking regu-
lations may cause us to be at a competitive disadvantage
because most of our competitors are not subject to these
limitations. As a PNC Bank subsidiary, BlackRock is subject
to the supervision, regulation, and examination of the Office
of the Comptroller of Currency (OCC). BlackRock is also

subject to the broad enforcement authority of the OCC,
including the OCC’ power to prohibit BlackRock from
engaging in any activity that, in the OCC’ opinion, consti-
tutes an unsafe or unsound practice in conducting its busi-
ness. The OCC may also impose substantal fines and other
penalties for violations of banking regulations applicable to
BlackRock. Some of our subsidiaries that engage in activities
outside the United States are subject to reguladon and
supervision by the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System. In addition, your shares will not be insured
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporadon or guaran-
teed by any bank.

We could lose existing executive and senior management
and investment contrvacts if there is a change in control of
PNC or BlackRock

Upon a change in control of PNC or BlackRock, PNC,
BlackRock or any successor may be required to offer to pur-
chase all of our capital stock held by BlackRock’s employee
stockholders and by public stockholders. Upon a change in
control of PNC or BlackRock, our existing management
may leave and new management could be appointed. In
addition, in the event of such a change in control of PNC or
BlackRock, the boards of registered investment companies
will have to approve our investment management contracts.
Moreover, our advisory clients must consent to such change
of control or terminate their agreements with us.

The foregoing risks are not exhaustive and new risks may
emerge that affect BlackRock’s businesses. It is impossible
for management to predict such future risks, and therefore,
forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as a
prediction of actual future results.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report and other documents filed by BlackRock include
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigaton Reform Act with respect to
BlackRock’ future financial or business performance, strate-
gies or expectations. Forward-looking statements are typi-
cally identified by words or phrases such as “believe,”

“expect,” “antcipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “position,” “tar-
get,” “mission,” “assume,” “achievable,” “potential,” “strat-
egy,” “goal,” “objective,” “plan,” “aspiration,” “outlook,”
“outcome,” “continue,” “remain,” “maintain,” “strive,”

“trend” and variations of such words and similar expressions,
or future or conditional verbs such as “will,” “would,”
“should,” “could,” “may” or similar expressions.

BlackRock cautions that forward-looking statements are
subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties,
which change over time. Forward-looking statements speak
only as of the date they are made, and BlackRock assumes no
duty and does not undertake to update forward-looking
statements. Actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in forward-looking statements and future results
could differ materially from historical performance.

In addidon to factors previously disclosed in BlackRock’s
SEC reports and those identfied elsewhere in this report,
forward-looking statements are subject, among others, to

the following risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results or future events to differ materially from forward-
looking statements or historical performance: (1) the intro-
duction, withdrawal, success and timing of business
initiatives and strategies; (2) changes in political, economic
or industry conditions, the interest rate environment or
financial and capital markets, which could result in reduced
demand for products or services or reduced value of assets
under management or of investments; (3) the investment
performance of BlackRock’s advised or sponsored invest-
ment products and separately managed accounts; (4) the
impact of increased competition; (5) the impact of capital
improvement projects; (6) the impact of future acquisitions;
(7) the unfavorable resolution of legal proceedings; (8) the
extent and timing of any share repurchases; (9) the impact,
extent and timing of technological changes and the ade-
quacy of intellectual property protection; (10) the impact of
legislative and regulatory actions and reforms; (11) terrorist
activities, which may adversely affect the general economy,
financial and capital markets, specific industries and
BlackRock; (12) the ability to attract and retain highly tal-
ented professionals; and (13) fluctuations in foreign cur-
rency exchange rates, which may adversely affect the value
of advisory fees earned by BlackRock.




SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected quarterly financial data for 2003 and 2002. The data presented should be read in con-
juncdon with the consolidated financial statements of BlackRock and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results

of Operations” included herein.

Quarter
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data) ist 2nd 3rd@ 4th Total
2003
Revenue $142,751 $143,906 $150,344 $161,211 $598,212
Operating income 54,066 54,802 57,644 61,764 228,276
Net income 35,320 38,674 40,053 41,355 155,402
Earnings per share:
Basic $0.54 $0.59 $0.62 $0.65 $2.40
Diluted $0.54 $0.58 $0.61 $0.63 $2.36
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 65,056,537 65,028,337 64,497,117 64,072,629 64,653,352
Diluted 65,867,032 66,164,326 65,693,325 65,634,589 65,860,368
Common stock price per share:
High $45.40 $48.56 $52.35 $53.63 $53.63
Low $39.58 $43.20 $43.60 $48.73 $39.58
Close $43.54 $45.04 $49.00 $53.11 $53.11
2002
Revenue $146,113 $156,695 $137,132 $137,037 $576,977
Operating income 49,935 54,705 55,496 55,003 215,139
Net income 31,399 34,837 33,165 33,848 133,249
Earnings per share:
Basic $0.49 $0.54 $0.51 $0.52 $2.06
Diluted $0.48 $0.53 $0.51 $0.52 $2.04
‘Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 64,648,511 64,726,856 64,798,908 64,848,221 64,756,290
Diluted 65,219,988 65,333,228 65,338,340 65,336,460 65,307,548
Common stock price per share:
High $46.26 $47.35 $46.42 $41.28 $47.35
Low $40.90 $40.45 $40.00 $34.30 $34.30
Close $44.60 $44.30 $41.42 $£39.40 $39.40

(@) In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46 (revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, which revised the conceptual framework for deter-
mining which party holds a controlling interest in a variable interest entity. Under previous guidance, the Company's management determined that the Company was the
primary beneficiary of six collateralized debt obligations (“CDO") and consolidated the vesults of operations, financial position and cash flow for these entities during the
three months ended September 30, 2003. Under guidance set forth in FIN 46R, the Company’s management has determined that the Company is not the primary bene-
ficiary of the CDOs and bas elected to reflect its deconsolidation of the CDOs through an adjustment of previously reported financial results. Certain veclassifications were
made to BlackRock’s third quarter 2003 results to conform with the curvent financial statement presentation. The impact of the deconsolidation of the CDOs was inma-
terial to BlackRock's results of opevations for the three months ended September 30, 2003.
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Management’s Responsibility
for Financial Reporting

BlackRock, Inc. is responsible for the preparation, quality
and fair presentation of its published financial statements.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States and, as such, include
judgments and estimates of management. BlackRock, Inc.
also prepared the other information included in the Annual
Report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency
with the consolidated financial statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting. The inter-
nal control system is.augmented by written policies and pro-
cedures and by audits performed by an internal audit staff
which reports to the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors. Internal auditors test the operation of the internal
control system and report findings to management and the
Audit Committee, and corrective actions are taken to address
idendfied control deficiencies and other opportunities for
improving the system. The Audit Committee, composed
solely of outside directors, provides oversight to the financial
reporting process.

Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BlackRock, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements
of financial condition of BlackRock, Inc. (the “Company”) as
of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consoli-
dated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity
and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. The financial statements of
the Company for the year ended December 31, 2001 were
audited by other auditors whose report, dated January 31,
2002, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any
system of internal control, including the possibility of
human error and circumvention or overriding of controls.
Accordingly, even effective internal control can provide only
reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement
preparation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the
effectiveness of internal control may vary over time.

Management assessed BlackRock, Inc.’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2003. Based on this
assessment managerment believes that BlackRock, Inc. main-
tained an effective internal control system over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2003.

Jhiodl Qead

Paul L. Audet
Chief Financial Officer
February 18, 2004

A

Laurence D. Fink
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
February 18, 2004

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial posi-
tion of BlackRock, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and
the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for
the years then ended, in conformity with accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, in 2002, the Company changed its method of account-
ing for goodwill and other intangible assets to conform
to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 142. In addidon, in 2003, the Company adopted the fair
value recognidon provisions of SFAS No. 123, as amended by
SFAS No. 148.

D.;/o/é/ Touchs cof

New York, New York
February 18, 2004
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of Financial Condition

December 31,

(Dollar amounts i thousands) 2003 2002
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $315,941 $255,234
Accounts receivable 127,235 113,789
Investments (cost: $226,566 and $214,652, respectively) 234,923 210,559
Property and equipment, net 87,006 93,923
Intangible assets 192,079 182,827
Receivable from affiliates 81 281
Other assets 9,958 7,575

Total assets $967,223 $864,188
Liabilities
Accrued compensation $172,447 $173,047
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Affiliate 40,668 23,977

Other 19,430 13,986
Acquired management contract obligation 5,736 6,578
Other liabilities 14,395 11,946

Total liabilides 252,676 229,534
Minority interest 1,239 —
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, class A, 19,243,878 and

17,606,801 shares issued, respectively 192 176
Common stock, class B, 46,120,737 and

47,629,373 shares issued, respectively 461 476
Additional paid-in capital 196,446 199,990
Retained earnings 570,535 440,747
Unearned compensation (10,270) (1,535%)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 6,027 231
Treasury stock, class A, at cost

954,067 and 38,714 shares held, respectively (45,054) (1,469)
Treasury stock, class B, at cost

313,626 and 281,281 shares held, respectively (5,029) (3,962)

Total stockholders’ equity 713,308 634,654
Total liabilities, minority interest and stockholders’ equity $967,223 $864,188

See accompanying notes to consolidatred financial statensents.
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Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except share data) 2003 2002 2001
Revenue
Investment advisory and administration fees

Mutual funds $206,136 $212,214 $217,361

Separate accounts 322,556 306,951 278,126
Other income

Affiliate 5,000 5,000 5,000

Other 64,520 52,812 32,657
Total revenue 598,212 576,977 533,144
Expense
Employee compensation and benefits 228,905 230,634 215,118
Fund administration and servicing costs

Affiliates 26,949 40,304 60,829

Other 5,824 1,475 —
General and administration

Affiliates 7,220 8,013 7,998

Other 100,113 80,588 68,569
Amortization of intangible assets 925 824 10,454
Total expense 369,936 361,838 362,968
Operating income 228,276 215,139 170,176
Non-operating income (expense)
Investment income 23,346 9,492 11,576
Interest expense (720) (683) (761)
Total non-operating income (expense) 22,626 8,809 10,815
Income before income taxes and minority interest 250,902 223,948 180,991
Income taxes 95,247 90,699 73,557
Income before minority interest 155,655 133,249 107,434
Minority interest 253 — —
Net income $155,402 $133,249 $107,434

Earnings per share

Basic _ ' $2.40 $2.06 $1.67

Diluted $2.36 $2.04 $1.65
Weighted-average shares outstanding

Basic 64,653,352 64,756,290 64,271,538

Diluted 65,860,368 65,307,548 64,926,199

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Accmmd?;ed
T
Common Stock Additdonal Unearned Comprehgxsiie Treasury Stock Toral
Class Class Paid-In Retained Compen- Gain Class Class Stockholders’

(Dollar amounts in thousands) A B Capital Earnings sation (Loss) A B Equity
January 1, 2001 $95 $545 $172,156 $200,064 (82,126) ($2,477) $16) —  $368,241
Net income — — — 107,434 - — — — 107,434
Conversion of class B

common stock to class A

common stock 56 (56) — — — — —_ — —
Issuance of class A

common stock 6 — 8,817 — — — — — 8,823
Issuance of class B

common stock — — 502 — (206) — — — 296
Amortization of discount on

issuance of class B

common stock —_ —_ — — 1,100 — — — 1,100
"Treasury stock transactions 2 2) (3,063) — (695) — 16 ($604) (4,346)
Tax benefit from stock

options exercised — — 5,629 — — —_ —_ — 5,629
Foreign currency :

translation loss — —_— — — — (294) — — (294)
Unrealized loss on

invesuments, net — — — — — (766) — — (766)
December 31, 2001 159 487 184,041 307,498 (1,927)  (3,537) — (604) 486,117
Nert income — — — 133,249 — — — — 133,249
Conversion of class B

common stock to class A

common stock 11 (1 — — —_ — — — —
Issuance of class A

common stock 6 — 11,969 — (864) —_ — — 11,111
Issuance of class B

common stock — — 331 — —_ — — — 331
Amortization of discount on

issuance of class B

common stock — — (149) — 1,256 — — — 1,107
Treasury stock transactions — — (3,881) — — —  (1,469) (3,358) (8,708)
Tax benefit from stock

options exercised — — 7,679 — — — — — 7,679
Foreign currency

translation gain — — — — —_ 1,715 — —_ 1,715
Unrealized gain on

investments, net — — — — — 2,053 — — 2,053
December 31, 2002 176 476 199,990 440,747  (1,535) 231 (1,469) (3,962) 634,654
Net income — — — 155,402 — — — — 155,402
Dividends paid — — — (25,614) — —_ — — (25,614)
Conversion of class B

common stock to class A

common stock 12 (15)  (15,263) — — — 15,266 — —
Issuance of class A

common stock 4 — 4,511 —  (9,693) — 23,199 — 18,021
Amortization of discount on

issuance of class B

common stock — — — — 958 —_ — — 958
Stock based compensation — — 802 — — — — — 802
Forfeiture of restricted

class B common stock —_ — (100) — — — — — (100)
Treasury stock transactons — — — — — — (82,050) (1,067) (83,117)
Tax benefit from stock

options exercised — — 6,506 — — — — — 6,506
Foreign currency

transladon gain — — — — — 3,097 — — 3,097
Unrealized gain on

investments, net — — — —_ — 2,699 — — 2,699
December 31, 2003 $192 $461 $196,446 $570,535 ($10,270) $6,027 ($45,054) ($5,029) $713,308

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $155,402 $133,249 $107,434
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activites:
Depreciation and amortization 21,366 20,238 26,021
Minority interest 220 — —
Stock-based compensation 6,351 4,926 4,483
Deferred income taxes 2,311) 7,053 (8,460)
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation 6,506 7,679 5,629
Purchase of investments, trading, net (17,071) (17,350) —
Net (gain) loss on investments (7,947) 2,031 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable (13,198) (19,699) (10,722)
Decrease (increase) in receivable from affiliates 200 2,288 (2,653)
Decrease (increase) in other assets (540) 946 29
Increase in accrued compensation 5,493 33,349 22,775
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 23,193 (4,137) 16,493
Increase in other liabilities 1,931 1,472 6,344
Cash provided by operating activities 179,595 172,045 167,373
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (13,453) (42,827) (40,479)
Purchase of investments (177,775) (353,762) (163,758)
Sale of investments 180,509 301,517 37,182
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (8,930) (1,733) —
Cash used in investing activities (19,649) (96,805) (167,055)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of class A common stock 623 2,658 1,199
Issuance of class B common stock — 332 296
Dividends paid (25,614) — —
Purchase of treasury stock (83,418) (12,444) (7,407)
Reissuance of treasury stock 6,915 2,048 445
Acquired management contract obligation payment (842) (766) (696)
Cash used in financing activities (102,336) (8,172) (6,163)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3,097 1,715 (294)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 60,707 68,783 (6,139)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 255,234 186,451 192,590
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $315,941 $255,234 $186,451

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except shave data)

Business

BlackRock, Inc. (together, with its subsidiaries, “BlackRock”
or the “Company”) provides diversified investment manage-
ment services to institutional clients, including certain sub-
sidiaries and affiliates of The PNC Financial Services Group,
Inc. (“PNC”), and to individual investors through various
investment vehicles. Institutional investment management
services primarily consists of the active management of fixed
income, equity and liquidity client accounts and the manage-
ment of the BlackRock Liquidity Funds (formerly the BlackRock
Providemt Institutional Funds), a money market mutual fund
family serving the insdtutional market. Individual investor
services primarily consists of the management of the
Company’s sponsored open-end (“BlackRock Funds”) and
closed-end mutual funds. BlackRock Advisors, Inc. (“BA”™),
BlackRock Institutional Managernent Corporation (“BIMC”),

BlackRock Financial Management, Inc. (‘BFM”), BlackRock
International, Ltd. (“BI”) and BlackRock Capital Manage-
ment, Inc. (“BCM”) are registered investment advisers under
the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 while BlackRock
Investments, Inc. (“BII”) is a registered broker dealer under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Basis of Presentation

BlackRock is indirectly majority owned by PNC. The con-
solidated financial statements of BlackRock include the assets,
liabilities and earnings of its wholly-owned subsidiaries BA,
BIMC, BFM, BI, BCM, BII, BlackRock Funding, Inc.,
BlackRock Overseas Investments Corporation, BlackRock
Portfolio Holdings, Inc. and their subsidiaries. Intercom-
pany accounts and transactons between the consolidated
entities have been eliminated.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are held at major
financial institutions and in money market mutual funds, in
which the Company is exposed to market and credit risk.

Investments
Readily Marketable Securities

The accounting method used for the Company’s readily mar-
ketable securides is dependent upon the Company’s owner-
ship level. If BlackRock does not possess significant influence
over the issuer’s operations, the securites are classified as trad-
ing or available for sale, depending on the Company’ intent
on holding the security. Investments, trading, primarily
represent investments made by the Company in certain of the
BlackRock Funds which are held in a Rabbi trust with respect
to senior employee elections under BlackRock deferred com-
pensation plans and are recorded at fair market value with

unrealized gains and losses included in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income as investment income
(expense). Investments, available for sale, consist primarily of
corporate investments in BlackRock funds and municipal
bonds. The resulting unrealized gains and losses on invest-
ments, available for sale, are included in the accumulated other
comprehensive income or loss component of stockholders’
equity, net of tax. If BlackRock holds significant influence
over the issuer of a readily marketable equity security, the
investment is accounted for under the equity method of
accounting and included in investments, other. BlackRock’s
share of the investee’s net income is included in investment
income (expense).

Nonmarketable Equity Securities

Investments, other, consists primarily of certain institutional
and private placement portfolios (“alternative investment
products”) and operating joint ventures undertaken by the
Company and are accounted for using the cost or equity
methods of accounting. If the Company has significant influ-
ence over the investee’s operations, the equity method of
accounting is used and the Company’s share of the investee’s
net income is recorded as invesunent income (expense) for
alternative investment products and other income for oper-
ating joint ventures. If the Company does not maintain sig-
nificant influence over the investee’s operations, the cost
method of accounting is used.

Realized gains and losses on trading, available for sale and other
investments are calculated on a specific identification basis
and, along with interest and dividend income, are included
in investment income (expense) in the accompanying
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consolidated statements of income. The Company’s manage-
ment periodically assesses impairment on investments to deter-
mine if it is other than temporary. Several of the Company’s
available for sale investments represent interests in collateral-
ized debt obligations in which the Company acts in the capac-
ity of collateral manager. The Company reviews cash flow
estimates throughout the life of each collateralized debt oblig-
aton to determine if an impairment charge is required to be
taken through current earnings. If the updated estimate of
future cash flows (taking into account both timing and amount)
is less than the last revised estimate, an impairment is recog-
nized based on the excess of the carrying amount of the
investment over its fair value. In evaluating impairments on all
other available for sale and other securities, the Company con-
siders the length of time and the extent to which the security’s
market value, if determinable, has been less than its cost, the
financial condition and near-term prospects of the security’s
issuer and the Company’s intended holding period for the secu-
rity. Any impairment on investments which is deemed other
than temporary is recorded in non-operating income (expense)
on the consolidated statements of income as a realized loss.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation. Depreciation generally is provided on the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
various classes of property and equipment. Accelerated meth-
ods are used for income tax purposes. Leasehold improve-
ments are amortized using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives or lease terms, whichever is shorter.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of goodwill, indefinite-lived
intangible assets and intangible assets with a finite life. For
the year ended December 31, 2001, goodwill was amortized
on a straight-line basis over 25 years. The Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
effective on January 1, 2002, as required. SFAS No. 142
changed the accounting for goodwill from an amortization
method to an impairment-only approach. The amortization
of goodwill, including goodwill recognized relating to past
business combinations, ceased upon adopton of the new
statement. Impairment testing for goodwill at a reporting
unit level is required on at least an annual basis. The
Company performs its preview of goodwill on September 30
of each fiscal year, barring adverse triggering events in the
interim. As a result of the cessation of amortization expense
related to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company’s

diluted earnings per share has increased by approximately
$0.09 and $0.08 per share during the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of
all other intangible assets. Any impairment would be recog-
nized when the future operating cash flows expected to be
derived from such intangible assets are less than their carry-
ing value. In such instances, impairment, if any, is measured
on a discounted future cash flow basis.

Software Costs

The Company follows Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed
or Obuained for Internal Use.” SOP 98-1 requires the capi-
talizaton of certain costs incurred in connection with devel-
oping or obtaining software for internal use. Qualifying
software costs of approximately $6,136 and $5,370 have
been capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively, and are being amortized over an
estimated useful life of three years.

Stock-based Compensation

Prior to 2003, the Company accounted for all awards issued
under its 1999 Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the “Award
Plan”) and shares issued under the BlackRock, Inc. 2001
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) under the intrinsic
method of accounting. No stock-based employee compensa-
tion cost related to these plans has been reflected in the
Company’s net income for the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2001, as all awards granted to employees had an
exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying
common stock on the date of grant. Fair value disclosures are
included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation,” prospectively to all employee
awards granted, modified, or settled after January 1, 2003.
Awards under the Company’ plans vest over periods ranging
from two to four years. Therefore, the cost related to stock-
based employee compensation included in the determination
of net income for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001 is less than that which would have been recognized
if the fair value based method had been applied to all awards
since the original effective date of SFAS No. 123. The fol-
lowing table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings
per share if the fair value based method had been applied to
all outstanding and unvested awards in each period.




Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Net income, as reported $155,402 $133,249 $107,434
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense

included in reported net income, net of related tax effects 1,162 657 783
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under fair value based method for all awards, net

of related tax effects (14,667) (8,985) (7,411)
Pro forma net income $141,897 $124,921 $100,806
Earnings per share:

Basic — as reported $2.40 $2.06 $1.67

Basic — pro forma $2.19 $1.93 $1.57

Diluted — as reported $2.36 $2.04 $1.65

Diluted — pro forma $2.15 $1.91 $1.55

Treasury Stock

The Company records common stock purchased for treas-
ury at cost. At the date of subsequent reissuance, the treasury
stock account is reduced by the cost of such stock on the
first-in, first-out basis.

Revenue Recognition

Investment advisory and administration fees are recognized
as the services are performed. Such fees are primarily based
on predetermined percentages of the market values of the
assets under management and are affected by changes in
assets under management, including market appreciation or
depreciation and net subscriptions or redemptions. Invest-
ment advisory and administration fees for mutual funds are
shown net of fees waived pursuant to expense limitations.

The Company also receives performance fees or an incentive
allocation from alternative investment products and certain
separate accounts. These performance fees are earned upon
attaining specified investment return thresholds. Such fees are
recorded as earned. Should the alternative investment prod-
ucts and separate accounts subject to performance fees not
continue to meet specified investment return thresholds,
performance fees and related employee compensation expense
previously recorded may be subject to reversal. At Decem-
ber 31, 2003, no performance fees recorded by the Company
are subject to reversal.

BlackRock provides a variety of risk management, investment
analytics and investment system services to insurance com-
panies, finance companies, pension funds, asset managers, con-
sultants, mutual fund sponsors, REITs, commercial and
mortgage banks, savings institutions and government agencies.
These services are provided under the brand name BlackRock
Solutions and include a wide array of risk management services
and enterprise investment system outsourcing to clients.
Fees earned for BlackRock Solutions services are either based
on predetermined percentages of the market value of assets

subject to the services or on fixed monthly or quarterly pay-
ments. The fees earned on risk management advisory and
investment system assignments are recorded as other income.

Administration and Servicing Costs

In connection with mutual funds advised by the Company,
certain administration and servicing costs are expensed
as incurred.

Comprehensive Income

All changes in stockholders’ equity, except those resulting
from investments by stockholders and distributions to stock-
holders, are included in comprehensive income (loss).

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing
net income applicable to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of shares of common stock out-
standing. Diluted earnings per common share is computed
by dividing net income by the total weighted average num-
ber of shares of common stock outstanding and common
stock equivalents. Diluted earnings per common share is
computed using the treasury stock method.

Business Segments

‘The Company’s management directs BlackRock’s operations
as one business, the asset management business. As part of its
asset management related services, the Company offers risk
management services, investment analytics and enterprise
investment systems under the BlackRock Solutions brand
name as a means to enhance its asset management relation-
ships and to offset its technology-related expenses. Clients
comprising approximately 71% of BlackRock Solutions rev-
enue for 2003 also maintained separately managed invest-
ment advisory accounts.
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Disclosure of Fair Value

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” requires disclosure of estimated fair values
of certain on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments.
The methods and assumptions are set forth below:

® Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, other assets,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are carried at cost
which approximates fair value due to the short maturities.

o The fair value of readily marketable investments is based
on quoted market prices. If securities are not readily mar-
ketable, fair values are determined by the Company’s
management. At December 31, 2003, the carrying value
of investments approximates its fair value.

e At December 31, 2003, the estimated fair value of the
acquired management contract obligation based on cur-
rent rates offered to the Company for debt, assuming an
investment rating of “AAA” or its equivalent, with a sim-
ilar remaining maturity was approximately $7,038.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 137 and
No. 138, establishes accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments, including certain derivatives embed-
ded in other contracts and for hedging activities. SFAS
No. 133 generally requires an entity to recognize all deriva-
tives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of finan-
cial conditon and measure those investments at fair value.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments primar-
ily for purposes of hedging exposures to fluctuations in for-
eign currency exchange rates of its assets and liabilities. Deriv-
ative financial instruments are not entered into for trading or
speculative purposes. The premium or discount on an instru-
ment is amortized over the life of the contract. Changes in the
fair value of the Company’s derivative financial instruments are
recognized in current earnings, offset by the corresponding
gain or loss on the related foreign denominated assets or
liabilities, in the consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability
method prescribed by SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recog-
nized for the future tax consequences attributable to the dif-
ferences between the financial statement carrying amount of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.

Reclassification of Prior Periods’ Statements

Certain items previously reported have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.

Recent Accounting Developments

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised
December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (“FIN 46R”). FIN 46R addresses the application
of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated
Financial Statements,” to variable interest entities (“VIE”)
and generally would require that the assets, liabilities and
results of operations of a VIE be consolidated into the finan-
cial statements of the enterprise that has a controlling finan-
cial interest in it. The interpretation provides a framework
for determining whether an entity should be evaluated for
consolidation based on voting interests or significant finan-
cial support provided to the entity (“variable interests”).

An entity is classified as a VIE if total equity is not sufficient
to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support or its equity investors lack
the direct or indirect ability to make decisions about an
entity’s activities through voting rights, absorb the expected
losses of the entity if they occur or receive the expected resid-
ual returns of the entty if they occur. Once an entity is deter-
mined to be a VIE, its assets, liabilities and results of operadons
should be consolidated with those of its primary beneficiary.
The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the entity which either will
absorb a majority of the VIE’s expected losses or has the right
to receive a majority of the VIE’s expected residual returns.
The expected losses and residual returns of a VIE include
expected variability in its net income or loss, fees to decision
makers and fees to guarantors of substandally all VIE assets or
liabilities and are calculated in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Concept No. 7, “Using Cash Flow
Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements.”

A public enterprise with a variable interest in a VIE must apply
FIN 46R to that VIE no later than the end of the first report-
ing period that ends after March 15, 2004, with the exception
of special purpose entities (“SPEs”), as defined. A public enter-
prise with a variable interest in an SPE which has been deemed
a VIE must apply FIN 46R to that VIE no later than the end
of the first reporting period that ends after December 15, 2003.
Additonally, if it is reasonably possible that an enterprise
will consolidate or disclose information about a VIE when
the guidance becomes effective, there are several disclosure
requirements effective for all financial statements issued after
January 31, 2003. The Company has included the required
disclosures for VIEs in which it has significant involvement in
the notes to these consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the conceptual framework set forth in FIN 46R,
the Company’s management has concluded that it is not
the primary beneficiary of any SPEs which have been
deemed VIEs. Therefore, the adoption of FIN 46R has
not had a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.




Under previous guidance, the Company’s management deter-
mined that the Company was the primary beneficiary of six
collateralized debt obligations (“CDO”) and consolidated
the results of operations, financial position and cash flow
for these entities during the three months ended September 30,
2003. The CDOs were subsequently deconsolidated under

FIN 46R. A reconciliation of BlackRock’s adjusted condensed
consolidated statements of financial condition and operations
as of and for the three months ended September 30, 2003 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three
months ended September 30, 2003 is as follows:

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition

September 30, 2003
(unaudited)
Deconsolidation
As Reported Adjustments As Adjusted
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $241,567 %0 $241,567
Restricted cash 148,383 (148,383) —
Investments 2,550,443 (2,295,715) 254,728
Other assets 544,409 (121,010) 423,399
Total assets $3,484,802 ($2,565,108) $919,694
Liabilities
Borrowings $2,035,637 ($2,035,637) $0
Unrealized depreciation on derivative contracts 76,305 76,305) —
Other liabilides 301,872 (80,462) 221,410
Total liabilides 2,413 814 (2,192,404) 221,410
Mandatorily redeemable preferred stock of subsidiaries 105,547 (105,547) _
Minority interest 269,181 (268,259) 922
Stockholders’ equity 696,260 1,102 697,362
Total liabilities, minority interest and stockholders’ equity $3,484,802 (82,565,108) $919,694
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations
Three months ended September 30, 2003
(unaudited)
Deconsolidation
As Reported Adjustments As Adjusted
Revenue
Investment advisory and administration fees $129,601 $3,436 $133,037
Other income 17,307 — 17,307
Total revenue 146,908 3,436 150,344
Expense
Employee compensation and benefits 58,956 — 58,956
Other operating expenses 36,242 (2,498) 33,744
Total expense 95,198 (2,498) 92,700
Operating income 51,710 5,934 57,644
Non operating income (expense)
Investment income 66,923 (60,837) 6,086
Interest expense (24,165) 24,013 (152)
42,758 (36,824) 5,934
Income before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative
effect of accountng change 94,468 (30,890) 63,578
Income taxes 23,579 — 23,579
Income before minority interest and cumuladve effect of
accounting change 70,889 (30,890) 39,999
Minority interest 30,930 (30,984) 54
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 39,959 94 40,053
Cumulative effect of accounting change 139 (139) —
Net income $40,098 ($45) $40,053
Earnings per share
Basic $0.62 $0.00 $0.62
Diluted $0.61 $0.00 $0.61
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In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised
December 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions
and Other Postretirement Benefits, an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 83, and 106" (“SFAS No. 132R”). This
statement requires additional disclosures about the assets,
obligations, cash flows and net period benefit costs of a
Company’s defined benefit pension and postretirement plans
but does not change the measurement or recognition require-
ments set forth in preexisting guidance. The Company
pardcipates in PNC'’s defined benefit pension and postretire-
ment plans and does not maintain its own plans. No separate
financial obligation data for the Company is available with
respect to such plans. Therefore, the adoption of SFAS No.
132R, which is effective for all fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2003, did not have an impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for
Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Lia-
bilides and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 addresses the standards
for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial

instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity.
SFAS No. 150 became effective for all instruments issued after
May 1, 2003 and is required to be applied to all financial instru-
ments as of the beginning of the first interim or annual report-
ing period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of this
statement did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment
of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” SFAS No. 149 amended and clarified financial
accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, includ-
ing derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and
for hedging actvities under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS
No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified
after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relatonships designated
after June 30, 2003. The adoption of this statement did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

2. INVESTMENTS

A summary of the cost and carrying value of investments, available for sale, is as follows:

Gross Unrealized

Carrying
December 31, 2003 Cost Gains Losses Value
Mutual funds $78,913 $147 ($834) $78,226
Municipal debt securities 77,061 638 (721) 76,978
Collateralized debt obligations 11,752 4,070 — 15,822
Total investments, available for sale $167,726 $4,855 (81,555) $171,026
December 31, 2002
Mutual funds $158,262 $1,095 ($939) $158,418
Municipal debt securides 13,823 448 — 14,271
Collateralized debt obligatons 12,108 — (1,733) 10,375
Other 9,782 — — 9,782
Total investments, available for sale $193,975 $1,543 ($2,672) $192,846

At December 31, 2003, the Company holds investments,
available for sale, with a fair market value of $111, the cost of
which has been in excess (§4 at December 31, 2003) of its car-
rying value for a period of time in excess of twelve months.

All other investments, available for sale, where the respective
cost basis exceeds the investment’s carrying value ($113,945
at December 31, 2003) have been in an unrealized loss posi-
tion for less than twelve months.




A summary of the cost and carrying value of investments, trading and other, is as follows:

Carrying
December 31, 2003 Cost Value
Mutual funds $9,573 $10,648
Equity securities 5,976 8,021
Total investments, trading 15,549 18,669
Mutual funds 6,795 5,801
Other 36,496 39,427
Total investments, other 43,291 45,228
Total investments, trading and other $58,840 $63,897
December 31, 2002
Mutual funds $5,461 $5,131
Total investments, wading 5,461 5,131
Other 15,216 12,582
Total investments, other 15,216 12,582
Total investments, trading and other $20,677 $17,713

All municipal debt securities have a maturity date in excess of ten years and an investment rating (provided by major rating

agencies) of “AAA” or its equivalent.

A summary of sale activity in the Company’s available for sale portfolio during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and

2001 is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Sales proceeds $180,509 $301,517 $37,182
Gross realized gains $2,293 $3,871 $188
Gross realized losses (676) 4,120) —
Net realized gain (loss) $1,617 ($249) $188

During the year ended December 31, 2002, gross realized losses include impairments of the Company’s seed investments in

mutual funds and CDOs of approximately $1,800 and $2,200, respectively.
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3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following:

Estimated useful December 31,

life — in years 2003 2002

Land N/A $3,564 $3,564
Building 39 16,972 16,972
Leasehold improvements 1-13 40,941 43,707
Building improvements 15 6,486 5,957
Equipment and computer software 3-5 80,492 71,587
Furniture and fixtures 7 18,507 17,478
Construction in progress N/A 822 —
167,784 159,265

Less accumulated depreciation 80,778 65,342
Property and equipment, net $87,006 $93,923

N/A - Not applicable
Building and building improvements reflect the Wilmington, =~ Depreciation expense was approximately $20,441, $19,414 and

Delaware office. $15,567 for the vears ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

4. OTHER INCOME

Other income consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
BlackRock Solutions $58,715 $49,860 $31,826
Investment accounting 4,611 3,469 1,878
Other 6,194 4,483 3,953
$69,520 $57,812 $37,657

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consist of the following:

December 31, 2003

Weighted-avg.

estimated Gross Carrying Accumulated Intangible

useful life Amount Amortization Assets

Goodwill N/A $243,787 $65,842 $177,945

Management contracts acquired N/A 8,866 — 8,866
Total goodwill and unamortized

intangible assets 252,653 65,842 186,811

Management contract acquired 10.0 8,040 2,915 5,125

Other 2.2 286 143 143

Total amortized intangible assets 9.7 8,326 3,058 5,268

Total intangible assets $260,979 $68,900 $192,079

N/A - Not applicable




Weighted-avg.

December 31, 2002

estimated Gross Carrying Accumulated Intangible

useful life Amount Amortization Assets

Goodwill N/A $240,797 $65,842 $174,955

Management contracts acquired N/A 1,677 — 1,677
Total goodwill and unamortized

intangible assets 242,474 65,842 176,632

Management contract acquired 10.0 8,040 2,111 5,929

Other 2.2 286 20 266

Total amortzed intangible assets 9.7 8,326 2,131 6,195

"Total intangible assets $250,800 $67,973 $182,827

N/A — Not applicable

a) Goodwill

The consolidated financial statements reflect the results of
operatdons of the former BlackRock Financial Management,
L.P. and BFM Advisory L.P,, which were acquired by PNC on
February 28, 1995. Goodwill recognized at acquisition approx-
imated $240,000 and was amortzed on a straight-line basis
over 25 years prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142 in 2002,
During 2003, the Company recognized $2,990 of goodwill
related to an acquisition of a hedge fund of funds manager.

b) Management Contract Acquived—Amortizable

On May 15, 2000, BlackRock entered into a contract in con-
nection with the agreement and plan of merger of CORE
Cap, Inc. with Anthracite Capital, Inc. (“Anthracite”), a
BlackRock managed REIT. This agreement assigns the
managerial rights and dudes of CORE Cap, Inc.’s former

The following table reflects the adoption of SFAS No. 142:

manager to BlackRock for consideration in the amount of
$12,500 to be paid by BlackRock over a ten-year period.
The present value of the acquired contract using an imputed
interest rate of 10%, the prevailing interest rate on the date
of acquisition, was $8,040 on May 15, 2000. This amount
was recorded as an intangible asset and is being amortized
on a straight-line basis over ten years.

¢) Management Contract Acquired—Unamortized

During 2003 and 2002, the Company acquired an equity
hedge fund manager and a hedge fund of funds manager. In
conjunction with these acquisitions, the Company assumed
management contracts over several commingled investment
vehicles which are indefinite in nature. Therefore, the fair
market value of these contracts was recorded as an intangi-
ble asset and is not subject to amortization.

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Reported net income $155,402 $133,249 $107,434
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 5,166
Adjusted net income $155,402 $133,249 $112,600
Basic earnings per share:
Reported $2.40 $2.06 $1.67
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 0.08
Adjusted $2.40 $2.06 $1.75
Diluted earnings per share:
Reported $2.36 $2.04 $1.65
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 0.08
Adjusted $2.36 $2.04 $1.73

Future expected amortization of intangible assets expense is
as follows:

2004 $906
2005 824
2006 804
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6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company currently enters into forward foreign cur-
rency exchange contracts with a major multinational finan-
cial institution to hedge foreign currency exposures related
to non-dollar denominated seed investments in its consoli-
dated statements of financial condition. At December 31,
2003 and 2002, the contracts had a notional amount of
$24,801 and $20,904, respectively, and unrealized deprecia-
tion of ($171) and ($794), respectively. Unrealized deprecia-
tion on derivatives is included in other liabilities on the
consolidated statements of financial conditon with the
respective change included in general and administration

expense on the consolidated statements of operations. All
contracts mature on June 28, 2004.

By using derivative financial instruments to hedge exposure
to changes in exchange rates, the Company exposes itself to
market risk. Market risk from forward foreign currency
exchange contracts is the effect on the value of a financial
instrument that results from a change in currency exchange
rates. The Company manages exposure to market risk asso-
ciated with foreign currency exchange contracts by establishing
and monitoring parameters that limit the types and degree of
market risk that may be undertaken.

7. COMMITMENTS

a) Lease Commitments

The Company leases its primary office space under agree-
ments which expire through 2017. Future minimum com-
mitments under these operating leases, net of rental
reimbursements of $3,138 through 2005 from a sublease
arrangement, are as follows:

2004 $11,796
2005 11,021
2006 11,000
2007 10,966
2008 10,966
Thereafter 106,393

$162,142

In connection with certain lease agreements, the Company is
responsible for escalation payments.

Occupancy expense amounted to $22,033, $19,263 and
$12,559 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

b) Acquired Management Contract Obligation

In connection with the management contract acquired asso-
ciated with the agreement and plan of merger of CORE Cap,
Inc. with Anthracite, a BlackRock managed REIT, the
Company recorded an $8,040 liability using an imputed
interest rate of 10%, the prevailing interest rate on the date
of acquisition. For the vears ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001, the related expense was $602, $683 and $761,
respectively. At December 31, 2003, the future commitment
under the agreement is as follows:

2004 $1,500
2005 1,500
2006 1,000
2007 1,000
2008 1,000
Thereafter 2,000

8,000
Less: imputed interest 2,264
Present value of management contract 85,736

If Anthracite’s management contract with BlackRock, Inc. is
terminated, not renewed or not extended for any reason
other than cause, Anthracite would remit to the Company
all future payments due under this obligation.

o) Indemnifications

In the ordinary course of business, BlackRock enters into
contracts with third parties pursuant to which the third par-
des provide services on behalf of BlackRock. In many of
the contracts, BlackRock agrees to indemnify the third
party service provider under certain circumstances. The
terms of the indemnity vary from contract to contract
and the amount of indemnificadon liability, if any, cannot
be determined.

d) Mutual Fund Investigations

As previously disclosed, BlackRock has received subpoenas
from various federal and state governmental and regulatory
authorities and various information requests from the
Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with
industry-wide investigations of mutual fund matters.
BlackRock is continuing to cooperate fully in these matters,
and has incurred or reserved approximately $4,000 to cover
the currently estimated aggregate costs in connection with
these regulatory matters.

¢} Other

The Company has entered into a commitment to invest
$7,678 in Carbon Capital, Inc., a BlackRock managed REIT,
of which $3,537 remained unfunded at December 31, 2003.

On April 30, 2003, the Company purchased 80% of the out-
standing equity interests of an investment manager of a hedge
fund of funds for approximately $4,100 in cash. Additionally,
the Company has committed to purchase the investment
manager’s remaining equity on March 31, 2008, subject to
acceleration provisions. The purchase price of this remaining
interest is performance-based and is not subject to a maximum
or the continued employment of former employees of the
investment manager with the Company. The Company is
unable to esdmate its potential obligadon at this time.




8. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES NOT SUBJECT TO CONSOLIDATION

BlackRock acts as collateral manager for six CDOs. The
CDOs invest in high yield securities and bank loans, among
other investments, and offer opportunity for high return and
are subject to greater risk than traditional investment prod-
ucts. These CDOs are structured to take advantage of the
yield differential between their assets and liabilities and have
terms to maturity of eight to twelve years when issued. As of
December 31, 2003, the aggregate assets and debt of the
CDOs were approximately $2,740,000 and $2,370,000,
respectively. BlackRock’s equity ownership, which repre-
sents the extent of the Company’s risk of loss, was approxi-
mately $15,800 at December 31, 2003. The Company’s
management has concluded that BlackRock is not the
primary beneficiary of the CDOs and therefore the Com-
pany has not consolidated the CDOs’ assets, liabilities and
results of operatdons.

BlackRock acts as trading adviser and special member to an
entity which has created a series of municipal securities trusts
in which the entity has retained interests. These trusts pur-
chase fixed-rate, long-term, highly rated, insured or escrowed
municipal bonds financed by the issuance of trust certifi-
cates. The trust certificates entitle the holder to receive future
payments of principal and variable interest and to tender
such certificates at the option of the holder on a periodic basis.
A third party acts as placement agent for the entity and the
trusts and as liquidity provider to the trusts. As of December
31, 2003, the aggregate assets and debt of this entity (includ-
ing the trusts) were approximately $375,000 and $227,000,
respectively. BlackRock’s equity ownership, which represents
the extent of the Company’ risk of loss, was $5,000 at Decem-
ber 31, 2003. The Company’s management has concluded that
BlackRock is not the primary beneficiary of this entity and
therefore the Company does not consolidate the entity.

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Involuntary Deferred Compensation Plan

Effective January 2002, the Company adopted an Involun-
tary Deferred Compensation Plan for the purpose of
providing deferred compensation and retention incentives
to key officers and employees. The Involuntary Deferred
Compensation Plan provides for a mandatory deferral of up
to 15% of annual incentive compensation. The mandatory
deferral is matched by BlackRock in an amount equal to
20% and vests on a straight-line basis over a three-year vest-
ing period. The matching contribution and investment
income related to the mandatory deferral vests on the third-
year anniversary of the deferral date. The Company funds
the obligation through the establishment of a Rabbi trust on
behalf of the participants in the plan.

Voluntary Deferved Compensation Plan

Effecdve January 2002, the Company adopted a Voluntary
Deferred Compensation Plan which allows participants to
elect to defer between 1% and 100% of that portion of his
or her annual incentive compensation not mandatorily
deferred under the BlackRock Involuntary Deferred Com-
pensatdon Plan. The participants must specify a deferral
period of one, three, five or ten years. The Company funds
the obligation through the establishment of a Rabbi trust on
behalf of the participants in the plan.

"The Rabbi trust established for the Involuntary and Voluntary
Deferred Compensation Plans is reflected in investments as
trading securities in the Company’s consolidated statements
of financial condition. The corresponding liability is reflected
in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condi-
tion as accrued compensation. Earnings in the Rabbi trust,
including unrealized appreciation (depreciadon), are reflected
as non-operating income or loss and employee compensation
and benefits in equal amounts in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of income.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company’s employees participate in PNC’s Incentive
Savings Plan (“ISP”), a defined contribution plan. Under the
ISP, employee contributions of up to 6% of eligible com-
pensation, subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations, are
matched by the Company. ISP expenses for the Company
were $4,224, $3,872 and $3,397 for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Contribu-
dons to the ISP were matched primarily by shares of
BlackRock’s common stock in 2003 and 2002 and PNC%
common stock in 2001, respectvely. 500,000 shares of
BlackRock’s common stock have been reserved for the ISP
of which 263,188 shares have been issued as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003.

BI contributes to the BlackRock Group Personal Pension
Plan (the “Pension Plan”), a defined contributon plan, for
all employees who have been employed with BI for greater
than three months. Under the Pension Plan, BI contributes
11% of each employee’s eligible compensation, which
totaled $663, $542 and $545 during the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectvely.

Postretirement Benefits

PNC provides certain health care and life insurance benefits
for eligible employees. Expenses for postretirement benefits
allocated to the Company by PNC were $37, $354 and $276
for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, accrued
postretirement benefits included in the consolidated state-
ments of financial condition totaled $1,025 and $1,149,
respectively. No separate financial obligadon data for the
Company is available with respect to such plan.

Noncontributory Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Certain employees of the Company participate in PNC’s
noncontributory defined benefit pension plan. Retirement
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benefits are based on compensation level, age and length of
service. Pension contributions are based on actuarially deter-
mined amounts necessary to fund total benefits payable to plan
participants. During 2000, the Company contributed approx-
imately $1,600 to the plan and had prepaid balances of approx-
imately $573 and $1,093 in pension benefit obligation as of

December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These amounts
were recorded in other assets on the consolidated statements
of financial condition. BlackRock incurred $522 and $111 in
pension expense during the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively and did not incur pension expense
during the year ended December 31, 2001.

10. STOCK AWARD AND INCENTIVE PLANS

Stock Award and Incentive Plan

Pursuant to the Company’s Award Plan, options are granted
at an exercise price not. less than the market value of common

Stock option activity during 2001 — 2003 is summarized below:

stock on the date of grant. These options have a ten-year
life, vest ratably over periods ranging from 2-4 years and
become exercisable upon vesting.

Shares under Weighted-avg.

Outstanding at option exercise price
December 31, 2000 2,401,510 $31.98
Granted 9,693 39.80
Exercised 103,226 14.00
Canceled 68,669 33.21
December 31, 2001 2,239,308 32.80
Granted 3,731,000 37.36
Exercised 130,272 14.00
Canceled 33,672 30.54
December 31, 2002 5,806,364 36.17
Granted 15,000 4139
Exercised 209,357 20.65
Canceled 164,000 40.48
December 31, 2003 5,448,007 $36.65

In December 2003, the Company issued 191,331 restricted
shares of class A common stock, at a fair market value of
$51.77 per share, to certain employees under the Award Plan.
These restricted shares vest over four years and are expensed
on a straight line method over the respective vesting period.
Expense incurred during the year ended December 31, 2003
totaled $213.

A maximum of 9,000,000 shares of class A common stock are
authorized for issuance under the Award Plan at December 31,
2003. Of this amount, 2,801,040 shares remain available for
future awards. The number of shares vested at December 31,
2003 was 1,213,207.

Stock options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Outstanding shares

Outstanding Weighted-avg. weighted-avg. Exercisable  Exercisable shares

Range of shares under remaining exercise shares under weighted-avg.
exercise prices option contractual life price option exercise price
$14.00 487,994 575 $14.00 487,994 $14.00

$32.47 3,000 7.29 3247 — —_

$37.36 3,653,000 8.79 37.36 — —
$40.03-$44.22 1,304,013 6.99 43.13 725,213 43.03
5,448,007 8.15 $36.47 1,213,207 $31.35

BlackRock Inc. Long-"Term Retention and Incentive Plan

On October 15, 2002, the Company finalized the
BlackRock, Inc. Long-Term Retention and Incentive Plan
(the “LTIP”). The LTIP permits the grant of up to
$240,000 in deferred compensation awards (the “LTIP

Awards”), subject to the achievement of certain performance
hurdles by the Company no later than March 2007. In
conjunction with the LTIP, BlackRock may issue up to
3.5 million stock options under the Award Plan with an
exercise price equal to market value subject to vesting at




December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2003, the Com-
pany has awarded approximately 3.4 million stock options
and approximately $216,100 in LTTP Awards. If the per-
formance hurdles are achieved, the LTIP Awards will be
tunded with up to 4 million shares of BlackRock common
stock to be surrendered by PNC and distributed to LTIP
participants, less income tax withholding. In addition, dis-
tributed shares to LTIP partcipants will include an option
to put such distributed shares back to BlackRock at fair mar-
ket value. BlackRock will fund the remainder of the LTIP
Awards with up to $40,000 in cash.

The LTTP Awards will fully vest at the end of any three-month
period beginning in 2005 or 2006 during which the daily aver-
age closing price of the Company’s common stock is at Jeast
$62 per share, subject to approval by BlackRock stockholders
at the Company’s annual meeting in May 2004. If that per-
formance hurdle is not achieved, the Company’s Compensa-
don Committee of its Board of Directors may, in its sole
discretion, vest a portion of the LTIP Awards if the Company
realizes compound annual growth in diluted earnings per
share of at least 10% from January 1, 2002 to December 31,
2006 and the Company’s publicly-traded stock performs in the
top half of its peer group during that time.

There will be no expense recognition associated with the ITTP
Awards unless vesting occurs or a partial vesting determina-
don is considered probable and estimable. The Compensation
and Audit Committees have determined that, based on current
condidons, the probability of indicating any partial vesting prior
to the commencement of the opportunity for full vesting of
the program at the conclusion of the first quarter of 2005 is
unlikely. The LTTP was constructed such that the expected
increase in value to stockholders necessary to fully vest the pro-
gram had to result from continued growth in the Company’s
earnings rather than from changes in the financial markets. As
such, the Compensation Committee established a minimum
performance period (through December 31, 2004) under
which no vesting of the program would occur. At such time,
the Compensation and Audit Committees will evaluate the like-
lihood that the Company will complete the program term with
alternative vesting criteria performance in excess of LTIP

requirements. The Company will accrue expense for this
contingency accordingly. Once this determination is made,
BlackRock will record compensation expense for the pro rata
portion of the LTIP Awards earned to date. Compensation
expense for the remaining ITTP Awards will be recognized rat-
ably from the determinadon date through the vesting date and
could extend through March 31, 2007. In addition, at the dme
that the BlackRock common stock portion of the LTIP
Awards are distributed, BlackRock will record an increase
in stockholders’ equity equal to the fair market value of the
BlackRock common stock distributed to employees from
shares surrendered by PNC.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The terms of the ESPP allow eligible employees to purchase
shares of the Company’s class A common stock at 85% of the
lesser of fair market value on the first or last day of each
six-month offering period. Eligible employees may not pur-
chase more than 500 shares of class A common stock in any
six-month offering period. In addition, for any calendar year
in which the opdon to purchase shares is outstanding,
Section 423 (b)(8) of the Internal Revenue Code restricts an
ESPP participant from purchasing more than $25 worth of
class A common stock based on its fair market value. Prior to
January 1, 2003, no charge to earnings was recorded with
respect to the ESPP. Effective January 1, 2003, the Company
adopted the fair value method for measuring compensation
cost related to stock options pursuant to SFAS No. 123, as
amended, and incurred ESPP-related compensation expense
of approximately $624 during the year ended December 31,
2003. A total of 1,250,000 shares of class A common stock are
available for issuance under the ESPP. The number of shares
issued at December 31, 2003 and estimated to be issued pur-
suant to the ESPP for the offering period ending February 1,
2004 is approximately 200,000.

Fair Value Disclosures

The fair value of option grants and ESPP shares are esti-
mated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with
the following assumpdons for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively:

2003 2002 2001
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected volatility 18.76% to 24.63% 16.13% to0 33.85% 30.04% to 30.69%

Risk-free interest
Expected term

1.03% to 1.2%

1.69% to 1.76%
8 years

2.37% t0 5.37%

8 years 7 years

The fair value of ESPP shares granted during 2003 was
measured on February 1, 2003 and August 1, 2003, the com-
mencement of each grant’s offering period. The Company’s
first dividend was not declared until August 18, 2003.
Therefore, the Company’s estimated dividend yield, as used
in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, remained at 0%
during 2003.

The weighted-average fair value of the options granted and
ESPP shares in 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $9.82, $15.04 and
$10.83 per share, respectively.

Deferved Compensation Plan

The Company has a Long-term Deferred Compensation
Plan (the “Plan”) to provide a competitive long-term
incentive for key officers and employees. The awards vested
through 2003 and were expensed on a straight-line method
over the respective vesting periods. Compensadon expense
(reversal of prior period expense) under the Plan for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was
($1,821), $2,396 and $3,592, respectively. There were no
outstanding awards under the Plan at December 31, 2003.
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries provide invest-
ment advisory and administration services to the BlackRock

Funds, the BlackRock Liguidity Funds, the BlackRock Closed-
end Funds and other commingled funds.

Revenues for services provided to these mutual funds including amounts earned from PNC-related accounts are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Investment advisory and administration fees:
BlackRock Funds:
PNC $39,771 $58,145 $88,524
Other 29,590 25,502 33,952
BlackRock Closed-end Funds — Other 52,685 41,591 30,474
BlackRock Liquidity Funds
PNC 13,131 14,203 11,900
Other* 69,904 71,912 51,788
STIF — PNC 1,055 861 723
$206,136 $212,214 $217,361

* Includes the International Dollar Reserve Fund I, Ltd., a Cayman Islands open-ended limited liability company.

The Company provides investment advisory and administra-
tion services to certain PNC subsidiaries, Nomura Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (“Nomura”), a strategic joint venture

Revenues for such services are as follows:

partner, and affiliates of Nomura, for a fee, based on assets
under management. In addition, the Company provides risk
management and private client services to PNC.

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Separate accounts — Nomura $13,021 $10,856 $8,316
Separate accounts — PNC 7,585 5,883 5,663
Private Client Services — PNC 5,525 5,525 5,525
Other income-risk management — PNC 5,000 5,000 5,000
$31,131 $27,264 $24,504

Total revenue earned by BlackRock for providing asset man-
agement and other services to PNC subsidiaries or PNC-
related accounts for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 totaled $72,067, $89,617 and $117,335,

respectively.

The Company has entered into various memoranda of under-
standing and co-administration agreements with affiliates of
PNC pursuant to which the Company pays administration fees
for the BlackRock Liquidity Funds and certain other commingled

funds and service fees for PNC Advisors’ (PINNC’s wealth man-
agement business) clients invested in the BlackRock Funds.

PNC provides general and administration services to the
Company. Charges for such services were based on actual
usage or on defined formulas which, in management’s view,
resulted in reasonable allocations. Additionally, the Com-
pany has entered into subadvisory and consulting agreements
with Nomura and an entity whose President and Chief Exec-
utive Officer serves on the Company’s Board of Directors.

Aggregate expenses included in the consolidated financial statements for transactions with related parties are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Fund administration and servicing costs $26,949 $40,304 $60,829
General and administration 5,773 6,397 6,728
General and administration-consulting 1,447 1,616 1,270
$34,169 $48,317 $68,827




Additionally, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of PNC
acts as a financial intermediary associated with the sale of
back-end loaded shares of certain BlackRock Funds. This
entity finances broker sales commissions and receives all
associated sales charges.

Included in accounts receivable is approximately $9,828
and $9,791 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
which primarily represents investment advisory and admin-
istration services provided to Nomura and PNC subsidiarijes
and affiliates.

Receivable from affiliates was $81 and $281 at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively. The amount primarily
represents a receivable for administration fees earned in

connection with services provided to the BlackRock
Closed-end Funds and Anthracite.

Payable to affiliates was $40,668 and $23,977 at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively. These amounts primarily
represent income taxes payable and fund administration and
servicing costs-affiliates payable and are non-interest bearing.

12. NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

As a registered broker-dealer, BII is subject to the Uniform
Net Capital requirements under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, which requires maintenance of certain

minimum net capital levels. At December 31, 2003 and
2002, BIIs net capital was $4,976 and $6,010 in excess of
regulatory requirements, respectively.

13. COMMON STOCK

BlackRock’s class A, $0.01 par value, common shares autho-
rized was 250,000,000 shares at December 31, 2003 and
2002. BlackRock’s class B, $0.01 par value, common shares
authorized was 100,000,000 shares at December 31, 2003 and

2002. Holders of class A common stock have one vote per share
and holders of class B common stock have five votes per share
on all stockholder matters affecting both classes.

The Company's common shares issued and outstanding and related activity consist of the following:

Shares issued

Shares outstanding

Common shares

Treasury shares

Class Class Class
A B A B A B

January 1, 2001 9,487,297 54,509,875 (353) — 9,486,944 54,509,875
Conversion of class B stock

to class A stock 5,685,484 (5,685,484) —_ — 5,685,484 (5,685,484)
Issuance of class A

common stock 601,105 — 265 — 601,370 —
Issuance of class B

common stock — 58,638 — — — 58,638
Purchase of treasury stock 143,058 (208,422) 88 (125,633) 143,146 (334,055)
December 31, 2001 15,916,944 48,674,607 — (125,633) 15,916,944 48,548,974
Conversion of class B stock

to class A stock 1,035,424 (1,098,873) 63,449 (16,607) 1,098,873 (1,115,480)
Issuance of class A

common stock 648,471 — — — 648,471 —
Issuance of class B

common stock — 53,639 — — — 53,639
Treasury stock transacdons 5,962 — (102,163) (139,041) (96,201) (139,041)
December 31, 2002 17,606,301 47,629,373 (38,714) (281,281) 17,568,087 47,348,092
Conversion of class B stock

to class A stock 1,144,059 (1,508,636) 364,577 — 1,508,636 (1,508,636)
Issuance of class A

common stock 493,018 —_ 525,015 — 1,018,033 —
Treasury stock transactions — — (1,804,945) (32,345) (1,804,945) (32,345)
December 31, 2003 19,243,878 46,120,737 (954,067) (313,626) 18,289,811 45,807,111
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During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company paid
dividends of $0.40 per share, or $25,614. As a consolidated
subsidiary of PNC Bank N.A. (“PNC Bank”), federal restric-
tions on the payment of dividends by PNC Bank might be
applied to BlackRock. Under federal law, approval of the
Office of the Comptroller of Currency is needed before PNC

Bank may pay dividends in any year in which the total of all
dividends paid would exceed the total of PNC Bank’ net prof-
its for that year combined with its retained net profits from the
prior two years. PNC Bank also may not pay dividends
exceeding its capital surplus.

14. INCOME TAXES

PNC and BlackRock have entered into a tax disaffiliation
agreement that sets forth each party’s rights and obligations
with respect to income tax payments and refunds and
addresses related matters such as the filing of tax returns
and the conduct of audits or other proceedings involving
claims made by taxing authorides.

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
BlackRock has filed its own consolidated federal income tax
return and has filed selected state and municipal income tax

returns separately and selected state and municipal income
tax returns with one or more PNC subsidiaries and a com-
bined or unitary basis. When BlackRock is included in a
group’s combined or unitary state or municipal income tax
filing with PNC subsidiaries, BlackRock’s share of the liabil-
ity generally will be based upon an allocation to BlackRock
of a percentage of the total tax liability based upon
BlackRock’s level of activity in such state or municipality.

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Current:

Federal $83,711 $62,613 $63,398

State and local 11,865 18,256 17,272

Foreign 1,982 2,777 1,347
Total current 97,558 83,646 82,017
Deferred:

Federal (1,920) 4,202 (5,289)

State and local (391) 2,851 3,171)
Total deferred 2,311) 7,053 (8,460)
Total $95,247 $90,699 $73,557

Federal, state and local taxes were not provided for on a
cumulative total of approximately $17,600 of undistributed
foreign earnings for subsidiaries domiciled outside the

United States of America. The Company intends to reinvest
these earnings indefinitely in operations outside the United
States of America.




The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to sig-
nificant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilides, which
are shown net in accounts payable and accrued liabilities-

affiliate in the consolidated statements of financial condition,
consist of the following:

December 31,
2003 2002

Deferred tax assets:

Compensation and benefits $28,942 $23,267

Depreciation — 3,503

Deferred state income taxes 8,913 4,827

Deferred revenue 3,292 1,105

Other 1,769 2,709
Gross deferred tax asset 42,916 35,411
Deferred tax liabilities:

Goodwill 34,990 31,386

Depreciation 3,213 —

Other 3,620 4,217
Gross deferred tax liabilicy 41,823 35,603
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $1,093 ($192)

A reconciliation of income tax expense with expected federal income tax expense computed at the applicable federal income tax

rate of 35% is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2003 % 2002 % 2001 %
Expected income tax expense | $87,816 35.0% $78,382 35.0% $63,347 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in
income taxes
resulting from:
State and local taxes 7,458 3,0 13,719 6.1 9,166 5.1
Foreign taxes (205) (0.1) (616) 0.3) (539) 0.3)
"Tax-exempt interest
income (1,072) 0.4) — — — —
Other 1,250 0.5 (786) (0.3) 1,583 0.8
Income tax expense $95,247 38.0% $90,699 40.5% $73,557 40.6%
15. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Net income $155,402 $133,249 $107,434
Other comprehensive gain (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) from investments, available for sale, net
of taxes of $1,443, $1,243 and ($171), respectively 2,699 2,053 (766)
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) 3,097 1,715 (294)
Comprehensive income $161,198 $137,017 $106,374
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Net income $155,402 $133,249 $107,434
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding 64,653,352 64,756,290 64,271,538
Dilutive potental shares from forward sales — 53,639 107,130
Dilutive potential shares from stock options 1,207,016 497,619 547,531
Dilutve weighted-average shares outstanding 65,860,368 65,307,548 64,926,199
Basic earnings per share $2.40 $2.06 $1.67
Diluted earnings per share $2.36 $2.04 $1.65

17. SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Cash paid for interest §775 $734 $804
Cash paid for income taxes $72,181 $75,236 $65,778
Supplemental schedule of noncash transactions:
Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Stock-based compensation $6,093 $6,321 $6,024
Reissuance of treasury stock, class A at a discount
to its fair market value $16,554 $587 $807

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Subsequent to December 31, 2003, BlackRocks Board of
Directors has approved a 2 million share repurchase program.
The Company may make repurchases from time to time as
market conditions watrant in open market or privately nego-
tiated transactions at the full discretion of the Company’s
management. The authority to purchase 310,000 shares avail-
able under pre-existing programs terminated with the
approval of this program. In addition to authorizing the new
share repurchase program, the Board of Directors also

approved a management stock buy-back that authorized
BlackRock to purchase shares owned by senior management
through the repurchase program. Shares repurchased by the
Company under the senior management buy-back program
reduced the current 2 million share repurchase authorizaton.
Eligible participants elected to sell an aggregate of 690,575
shares which, based on BlackRock’s average closing price for
the five days ended January 28, 2004, approximated $40,400.
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Corporate Headquarters
BlackRock, Inc.

40 East 52nd Street

New York, NY 10022
(212) 754-5560

Stock Listing

BlackRock, Inc.’s class A common stock is traded on the New
York Stock Exchange under the symbol BLK. BlackRock’s
class B common stock is not included for listing or quotation
on any established market. At the close of business on
February 18, 2004, there were 495 class A common
stockholders of record and 32 class B common stockholders of
record.

Internet Information
Information on BlackRock’s financial results and its products
and services is available on the internet at www.blackrock.com.

Financial Information

BlackRock makes available, free of charge, through its
website at www.blackrock.com, under the heading “Investor
Relations/Financial Information and SEC Filings,” its Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those
reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission, Further, BlackRock will provide, free
of charge to each stockholder upon written request, a copy
of BlackRock’s Anmual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to those reports. Requests for copies should be
addressed to Joseph Feliciani, Managing Director, BlackRock,
Inc., 40 East 52nd Street, New York, NY 10022. Requests may
also be directed to (212) 409-3519 or via e-mail to joseph.feli-
ciani@blackrock.com. Copies may also be accessed electronically
by means of the SECs home page on the internet at
WWW.sec. gov.

Inquiries
Individual stockholders should contact stockholder relations at
(212) 409-3441 or via e-mail at invrel@blackrock.com.

Analysts and institutional investors should contact
Paul L. Audet, Chief Financial Officer, at (212) 409-3555 or
via e-mail at peul.audet@blackrock.com.

News media representatives and others seeking general
information should contact Brian Beades ar (212) 754-5596 or
via e-mail at brian.beades@blackrock.com.

Annual Stockholders Meeting

All stockholders are invited to attend the BlackRock annual
meeting on Tuesday, May 11, 2004, beginning at 9:00 a.m.,
local time. The meeting will be held at the New York Palace
Hotel, 455 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10022.

Common Stock Prices

The table below sets forth by quarter the range of high and
low sale and quarter-end closing prices for BlackRock class
A common stock.

2003 High Low Close
First Quarter $45.40 $39.58 $43.54
Second Quarter $48.56 $43.20 $45.04
Third Quarter $52.35 $43.60 $49.00
Fourth Quarter $53.63 $48.73 $53.11
2002

First Quarter $46.26 $40.90 $44.60
Second Quarter $47.35 $40.45 $44.30
Third Quarter $46.42 $40.00 $41.42
Fourth Quarter $41.28 $34.30 $39.40
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Dividend Policy

The declaration of and payment of dividends by BlackRock are
subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors. BlackRock
is a holding company and, as such, our ability to pay dividends
is subject to the ability of our subsidiaries to provide cash to us.
The Board of Directors will determine future dividend policy
based on our results of operations, financial conditions, capital
requirements and other circumstances. In addition, because we
are a consolidated subsidiary of PNC, federal banking restric-
tions on payments of dividends by PNC Bank may apply to us.

Registrar and Transfer Agent
Mellon Investor Services LLC
85 Challenger Road

Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660
(800) 851-9677

Other Corporate Office Locations
One Boston Place

32nd Floor

Boston, MA 02108

Telephone: (617) 386-2500
Facsimile: (617) 386-2550

40 Torphichen Street
Edinburgh, EH3-8]B
Scotland, U.K.
Telephone:
Facsimile:

+44-131-472-7200
+44-131-472-7201

Jardine House

Suite 3717-3718

1 Connaught Place
Central, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852-2111-2738
Facsimile: +852-2111-0051
455 Market Street

Suite 1920

San Francisco, CA 94105
Telephone: (415) 486-2600
Facsimile: (415) 977-1208

2-1-1, Otemachi
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0004

Japan
Telephone: +81-3-3231-7570
Facsimile: +81-3-3231-7576

100 Bellevue Parkway
Wilmington, DE 19809-3700
“Telephone: (302) 797-2000
Facsimile: (302) 797-2222

Nomura BlackRock Asset Management Co., Ltd.
2-1-1, Otemachi
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0004

Japan
Telephone: +81-3-3241-9980
Facsimile: +81-3-3241-9713
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Past performance is no guarantee of future results.

Mutual Funds: Performance data assumes the reinvesoment of dividends and capital gains distributions
and refleces the performance of the Institutional Class, with the exception of the BlackRock Funds
Government Income Portfolio, which reflects the performance of the Investor B Class. BlackRock waives
fees, without which performance would he lower. Invesunents in BlackRock Funds and BlackRock
Liquidity Funds are ncither insured nor guaranteed by the U.S. government. Relative peer group
performance is based on quartiles from Lipper Inc. Lipper rankings are based on ttal returns with
dividends and distributions reinvested and do not reflect sales charges. Funds with returns among the
top 25% of a peer group of funds with comparable objectives are in the first quartile and funds with
returns in the next 25% of a peer group are in the sceond quartile. Some funds have less than five years

of performance.

Fixed Income Portfolios of BlackRock Funds: The Core Bond Total Return and Core PLUS 7ol
Return Portfolios are in the Intermediate Investment Grade Debt Lipper peer group and the Low
Duration Bond Portfolio is in the Short Investment Grade Debt Lipper peer group. The Managed
Income Portfolio is in the Intermediate Investment Grade Debe Lipper peer group and the Intermediate
Bond Portfolio is in the Short-Intermediate Investment Grade Debr Lipper peer group. The High Yicld
Bond Portfolio is in the Tligh Current Yield Lipper peer group and the GNMA Portfolio is in the
GNMA Lipper peer group. The Intermediate Government Portfolio is in the Intermediate US
Government Lipper peer group, the Government Income Portfolio is in the General US Government
Lipper peer group and the International Bond Portfolio is in the International Income Lipper peer

group.

BlackRock Liquidity Funds: “TempFund and “TempCash are in the Institutional Money Market Lipper
peer group, and Federal Trust Fund and FedFund are in the Institutional U.S. Government Moncy
Market Lipper peer group. T-Fund and Treasury Trust Fund are in the Institutional U.S. "Freasury
Moncey Market Lipper peer group. MuniCash and MuniFund are in the Tnstitutional “Tax-Exempt Moncey
Markee Lipper peer group. California Money Fund and New York Money Fund are in the California

Tax-Exemptand New York Tax-Exempt Money Market Lipper peer groups, respectively.

Money Marker Portfolios of BlackRock Funds: The Money Market, U.S. "Treasury Money Market and
Municipal Money Market Portfolios are in the Insticutional Money Market, Institutional U.S. Treasury
Money Mg

ket and Institutional ‘Tax-Exempe Money Market Lipper peer groups, respectively. “Fhe New
Jersey Municipal Money Market, Ohio Municipal Money Market and Pennsylvania Municipal Money

Market are in the New Jersey ‘lax-Exempt Money Market, Ohio “Tax-Exempt Moncy Marker and

Pennsylvania Tax-Exempt Moncy Market Lipper peer groups, respectively. The North Carolina
Municipal Money Market and Virginia Municipal Money Market Portfolios are in the Other States Tax-
Exempt Money Market Lipper peer group. As with other money market funds, there is no assurance that
BlackRock Liquidity Funds or the money market portfolios of BlackRock Funds will maintain a stable net
assct value of $1.00 per share.

Equity Portfolios of BlackRock Funds: "The Small Cap Growth Equity and Small Cap Value Fquity
Portfolios are in the Small Cap Growth and Small Cap Core Lipper peer groups, respectively. The ULS.
Opportunities Porefolio is in the Mid Cap Core Lipper peer group. The Sclece Equity Portfolio is in the
Large Cap Core Lipper peer group.

Composites Performance: Results do not reflect the deduction of management/advisory fees and other
expenses, which will reduce a clients reeurn. For example, assuming an annual gross recurn of 8% and
an annual management/advisory fee of 0.25%, the net annualized total requrn of a composite would e
7.74% over a S-year period. Frank Russell Company is ehe source of peer universe data for fixed income

and equity composites. Some BlackRock compaosites have less than five vears of performance.
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